American University in Cairo AUC Knowledge Fountain

Theses and Dissertations

Student Research

Spring 5-25-2021

Analysis of Single Cell RNA-seq Data Revealed Interferon Gamma Signaling Alteration in Severe COVID patients

Ahmed Elbaz The American University in Cairo AUC, ahmedadelelbaz@aucegypt.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://fount.aucegypt.edu/etds

Part of the Biological Phenomena, Cell Phenomena, and Immunity Commons, Virus Diseases Commons, and the Viruses Commons

Recommended Citation

APA Citation

Elbaz, A. (2021). *Analysis of Single Cell RNA-seq Data Revealed Interferon Gamma Signaling Alteration in Severe COVID patients* [Master's Thesis, the American University in Cairo]. AUC Knowledge Fountain. https://fount.aucegypt.edu/etds/1644

MLA Citation

Elbaz, Ahmed. Analysis of Single Cell RNA-seq Data Revealed Interferon Gamma Signaling Alteration in Severe COVID patients. 2021. American University in Cairo, Master's Thesis. AUC Knowledge Fountain. https://fount.aucegypt.edu/etds/1644

This Master's Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Research at AUC Knowledge Fountain. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of AUC Knowledge Fountain. For more information, please contact thesisadmin@aucegypt.edu.



School of Sciences and Engineering

Analysis of Single Cell RNA-seq Data Revealed Interferon Gamma

Signaling Alteration in Severe COVID patients

A Thesis Submitted to

The Biotechnology Master's Program

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for

The degree of Master of Science

By: Ahmed Adel El-Baz

Under the supervision of:

Dr. Hassan Azzazy

American University in Cairo

Spring/ 2021

The American University in Cairo

Analysis of Single Cell RNA-seq Data Revealed Interferon Gamma

Signaling Alteration in Severe COVID patients

A Thesis Submitted by Ahmed Adel El-Baz To the Biotechnology Graduate Program Spring/ 2021 In partial fulfillment of the requirements for The degree of Master of Science Has been approved by

Thesis Committee Supervisor/Chair

Affiliation _____

Thesis Committee Reader/Examiner

Affiliation	

Thesis Committee Reader/Examiner

Affiliation

Thesis Committee Reader/External Examiner

Affiliation_____

Dept. Chair/Director Date

Dean

Date

Dedication

I dedicate this research to my family members for their efforts and support along the process of my course of study.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I am incredibly grateful to my supervisor, Prof.Azzazy, for his invaluable support, patience, and advice during my MSc study. He has the substance of a genius: he convincingly encouraged me to be motivated, professional, and do the right thing even when I face challenging times. Without Dr.Azzazy's persistent help, the goal of this project would not have been realized. I would like to thank Ahmed Safwat Abouhashem for his unlimited support for me working on this project. He spent much effort and time providing a friendly and cooperative work environment. Ahmed was the one who advised me to join the program, and he was behind any single success during this journey. Special thanks to the American University in Cairo and CytoTalk LLC for providing me with the required learning environment during my course of study. My thanks are extended to my colleague Ahmed Yamany for his valuable encouragement. I would also like to acknowledge Manar El-Naggar, Fatma Z. Gharbia, Yomna Moqidem and Kanhaiya Singh for their contribution. Last but not least, I would like to thank my family for always being beside me. For you all, I dedicate this thesis which I wish to help in overcoming the pandemic very soon.

Abstract

Background: SARS-COV2 virus detected in December 2019, and was considered a pandemic in March 2020 by the WHO. Symptoms range from asymptomatic to life threatening ones. Studying cell-cell interactions in patients' blood samples may lead to novel diagnosis and treatment approaches.

Aim: This study aims to analyze single-cell RNA sequencing data to identify differences in cell-cell communications between healthy and COVID patients and differentially expressed T-cells genes that contributed to immune system antiviral activity.

Materials and methods: Single-Cell RNA sequencing data from seven COVID patients and five healthy individuals were collected from (GEO accession GSE155673). Cell types were identified and cell-cell interactions were inferred for each condition (healthy, moderate and severe COVID patients). Additionally, T cells differentially expressed genes between the three conditions were identified and pathways enrichment were performed.

Results: Eight cell types were identified. Percentage of T cells decreased from 32.76% in healthy individuals to 16% in severe COVID cases. Cell-Cell interactions analysis revealed significant alterations among healthy, moderate, and severe conditions such as reduction of overall incoming signaling in T cells of severe cases. Additionally, SN signaling pathway was identified only in COVID cases, which in turn was found to be in IFN- γ reduction in distinct cell types. Pathways enrichment analysis identified IFN- γ signaling to be upregulated in moderate cases, and to be downregulated in severe ones. Protein interacting with IFN- γ also shows downregulation such as IRF1. However, the negative regulator of IFN- γ -SOCS3- was upregulated in COVID patients T cells.

Conclusion: Cell-cell interactions alteration in COVID patients might have resulted in eliciting improper immune response. Not only, did T cells percentage decreased in severe COVID cases, but also T cells overall incoming signaling was decreased. Additionally, cell-cell interaction alteration might have played a significant role in suppressing antiviral response through IFN- γ reduction which might contribute to the observed severity of COVID cases.

Table of Contents

List of Figures	IX
List of Tables	Х
List of Abbreviations	
CHAPTER 1: Introduction	1
1.1 COVID	1
1.1.1 Current Status	1
1.1.2 SARS-CoV2	1
1.1.3 Classification of COVID-19 disease severity	2
1.1.4 Treatment and management	2
1.1.5 Vaccination against COVID-19 disease	3
1.2 Immune response	5
1.2.1 Immune response against viral infection	5
1.2.2 Immune response in COVID patients	5
1.2.3 Effect of Disease Severity on eliciting immune response	e6
1.2.4 T-cells and cytokines production	8
1.2.5 Interferons	9
1.3 Single-Cell RNA Sequencing	
1.4 Cell-Cell Interactions	11
CHAPTER 2: Hypothesis and Objectives	13
2.1 Hypothesis	13
2.2 Objectives	13
CHAPTER 3: Materials and Methods	14
3.1 Data source	14
3.2 Single-Cell RNA-Seq Data Preprocessing	14
3.2.1 Data integration	14

3.2.2 Filtering low-quality cells	15
3.2.3 Dimensionality Reduction	15
3.3 Clustering of Single Cells	16
3.4 Identification of cell types	16
3.5 Identification of cell type Markers	17
3.6 Cell-cell communication analysis	17
3.7 T cells Analysis	18
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	20
4.1 Clustering of cells and identification of cell types markers	20
4.2 Signaling pathways' alterations through cell-cell interaction and	nalysis 25
4.3 T cells differential expression analysis	31
4.4 Pathways activity analysis in T cells	33
4.5 Interferon-gamma protein-protein interaction	38
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	40
5.1 COVID Severity influence on cell counts	40
5.2 Cell-cell interactions alteration in COVID cases	41
5.3 Gene expression alteration in T cells of COVID cases	43
5.3 IFN-γ signaling alteration in severe COVID cases	44
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION	47
REFERENCES	48

List of Figures

Figure 1. Schematic diagram of SARS-COV2 activation of host adaptive immune response.	6
Figure 2. Schematic diagram of the three types of interferons (I, II and III) receptor activation signaling pathways.	10
Figure 3: Schematic diagram of the analysis workflow.	20
Figure 4: Preprocessing and quality control of single cells.	21
Figure 5: Identification of eight cell types among blood samples.	22
Figure 6: Compositional analysis.	24
Figure 7: Interaction signaling patterns in blood cells of healthy and COVII patient.) 26
Figure 8: Differential interactions among blood cells between healthy, moderate and severe COVID cases.	28
Figure 9: SN signaling pathway induction in moderate and severe COVID cases.	30
Figure 10: T cells differential expression analysis.	37
Figure 11: Interferon gamma protein-protein interactions.	39

List of Tables

Table 1: FDA authorized vaccines against COVID-19 for emergency use.4

Table 2: Top 25 upregulated differentially expressed genes in moderate COVIDcases compared to healthy individuals and their logFC in severe vs moderatecases.32

Table 3: Top 10 upregulated and downregulated pathways in severe COVIDcases compared to healthy individuals.34

Table 4: Top 10 upregulated and downregulated pathways in moderate COVIDcases compared to healthy individuals.35

Table 5: Top 10 upregulated and downregulated pathways in severe COVIDcases compared to moderate ones.36

List of abbreviations

ALCAM	Activated Leukocyte Cell Adhesion Molecule
BKV	Bk Virus
CCA	Canonical Correlational Analysis
cDNA	Complementary Di-Nucleic Acid
CHIKV	Chikungunya Virus
CITE-seq	Cellular Indexing of Transcriptomes and Epitopes by Sequencing
СМР	Common Myeloid Progenitor
DC	Dendritic Cell
EBOV	Ebola Virus
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
EM	Ensemble Mean
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GAS	Gamma-Activated Sequence
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
HLH	Haemophagocytic Lymphohistiocytosis
HPCA	Human Primary Cell Atlas
HSC	Hematopoietic Stem Cell
HSV	Herpes Simplex Virus Type
ICU	Intensive Care Unit
IFITM1	Interferon-Inducible Transmembrane Protein1
IFN	Interferon
IFNGR	Interferon Gamma Receptor
IPA	Ingenuity Pathways Analysis
IRF	Interferon Regulating Transcription Factor
ISG	Interferon-Stimulated Gene
ITGA4	Integrins Alpha-4

JAK	Janus Protein Tyrosine Kinase
KNNs	K-Nearest Neighbors
LCMV	Lymphocytic Choriomeningitis Virus
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
NIH	National Institution of Health
NK	Natural Killer
NSP	Non-Structural Protein
ORF	Open Reading Frame
PCA	Principle Component Analysis
PRR	Pattern Recognition Receptor
PRRSV	Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus
RELMs	RESISTIN-Like Molecules
RRV	Ross River Virus
RSV	Respiratory Syncytial Virus
SARS-COV2	Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2
scRNA-seq	Single Cell Ribonucleic Acid Sequencing
SIGLEC1	Sialic Acid-Binding Immunoglobulin Ig Lectin-1
SNNs	Shared Nearest Neighbor
SOCS	The Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling
STAT	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription
TCR	T-Cell Receptor
TLR4	Toll-Like Receptor 4
TNF	Tumor Necrosis Factor
TSNE	T-Distributed Stochastic Neighbor Embedding
VTE	Venous Thromboembolism
WHO	World Health Organization

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

1.1 COVID

1.1.1 Current Status

More than 150 million confirmed cases of COVID-19 disease (with more than 79 thousand daily new cases are reported as of 1st May 2021), and more than three million deaths were reported as of April 2021 [https://covid19.who.int]. According to Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center, India and Brazil reported the highest cases since March 2021 [https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/]. Due to the pandemic, the world economies are struggling even after more than one billion individuals are vaccinated (from which more than 200 million are fully vaccinated) with Food and Drug Administration (FDA) emergency authorized vaccines [https://www.fda.gov].

COVID-19 disease common symptoms include fever, fatigue, dry cough, headache, sore throat, hemoptysis, and diarrhea (Huang et al. 2021). Most patients are asymptomatic or show mild symptoms, while others show moderate to severe symptoms (Tang et al. 2021). Individuals with risk factors (old age, obesity, or diabetes) develop a cascade of acute biological events that may lead to hospitalization and the need for ventilation (Laforge et al. 2020). Covid-19 has led to several complications, including lung injury, cardiac injury, myocardial damage, and ischemia (Bénard et al. 2021, Garcia-Beltran et al. 2021),

1.1.2 SARS-CoV2

SARS-CoV2 (similar to SARS-COV, MERS-COV) is a single-stranded positive RNA virus (Chen et al. 2020b). It belongs to the Orthocoronavirinae subfamily(Pal et al.), which causes coronavirus disease that became a global pandemic and health emergency in 2019 (Dong et al. 2020, Huang et al. 2021). Coronavirus-2 has four structural proteins: envelope (E) protein, membrane (M) protein, nucleocapsid (N) protein, and (S) trimeric protein, which consists of two main subunits (S1) and (S2) (Ou et al. 2020).

1.1.3 Classification of COVID-19 disease severity

The WHO proposed a classification of Covid-19 patients that includes three main severity groups. The first group comprises Critical COVID-19 patients who mainly require life-sustaining therapies provisions such as vasopressor therapy or mechanical ventilation, with criteria of ARDS (Acute respiratory distress syndrome) and lung injuries. The second group is severe COVID-19 patients related to low oxygen saturation and respiratory rate levels and severe respiratory distress symptoms. On the other hand, non-severe COVID-19 patients as the third group have none of the critical and severe defined criteria. [https://www.who.int/]

1.1.4 Treatment and management

There is an urgent need for novel treatments of COVID-19 disease in its early and late stages (Bose et al. 2020). Treatment and management should rely on the onset of infection and disease severity, which correlates with clinical symptoms and complications. For outpatient management of acute COVID-19 infected cases, the U.S. National Institution of Health (NIH) guidelines recommended treatment plans according to patient's vital signs, physical examinations, and risk factors for disease progression. Anti-pyretic, analgesics, and anti-tussive drugs are used to relieve symptoms like fever, headache, and cough for outpatient cases' management. Rest is required in the early stages of infections, and then other activity forms should be increased during recovery. In mild to moderate COVID-19 outpatient cases with a high risk of developing severe progression, NIH guidelines recommended using a combination of anti-SARS-CoV2 monoclonal antibodies. The two FDA approved combinations of anti-SARS-CoV2 monoclonal antibodies are bamlanivimab plus etesevimab or casirivimab plus indevimab. These combinations are highly recommended for outpatient COVID-19 cases with higher risk of clinical progression. However, with patients who received the antibody combination therapy,

vaccination should be deferred for at least 90 days after treatment; to avoid the disease progression resulted from antibody and vaccine interference [https://www.nih.gov/].

For the hospitalized COVID-19 patients, the only drug approved by the FDA is the antiviral Remdesivir in addition to supplemental oxygen (Eastman et al. 2020). Moreover, anticoagulant drugs are recommended for COVID-19 hospitalized cases with clinical indications of developing venous thromboembolism (VTE) or arterial thrombosis in COVID-19 cases. Despite the recommendations of WHO to use low doses of anticoagulants to prevent thromboses, there is no sufficient evidence for the requirement for prophylactic doses with hospitalized COVID-19 cases (Tiwari et al. 2020). Due to lack of sufficient data about safety and efficacy, the NIH guidelines recommended not to use Antibacterial therapies like Azithromycin with or without chloroquine against COVID-19 disease in outpatient or hospitalized cases [https://www.nih.gov/]. Thus, current interventions and guidelines for COVID management are related to isolation, and supportive medicine for infected patients, besides symptomatic and respiratory failure management in severe cases (Marini and Gattinoni 2020).

1.1.5 Vaccination against COVID-19 disease

Safe and effective vaccines for COVID-19 infection are crucial to building antiviral protection and very useful weapons to stop the pandemic (Menni et al. 2021). Different vaccine types show numerous immune-system stimulated responses. An effective vaccine should trigger the immune system to produce memory T-cells and B-cells (Teijaro and Farber 2021). Memory T-cells and memory B-cells are essential components of protective immunity against viral infection. So, the immune system will gain the ability to fight against future viral infections more precisely and effectively (Cox and Brokstad 2020). Different COVID-19 developed vaccines could be categorized according to the mechanism of triggering a future viral recognition by the immune cells, such as mRNA vaccines that contain specific genetic particles from the SARS-CoV2 virus. The viral genomic particles trigger the immune system to produce harmless viral proteins, stimulating the formation of memory T-cells and B-cells that will activate adaptive immune responses against the virus

(Teijaro and Farber 2021). Also, a formation of memory T-cells and B-cells could be gained via protein subunit-based vaccines, including harmless viral proteins or protein fragments (Pollet et al. 2021). A viral vector is a modified version of different virus that contains SARS-CoV2 genetic materials. The viral vector-based vaccines also activate specific antiviral immune responses (Lundstrom 2021).

No FDA-approved vaccine prevents COVID-19 as of 10th May 2021 [https://www.fda.gov/]. Despite that, the FDA had authorized the emergency usage of different vaccines such as Pfizer-BioNTech, Moderna and Johnson, Johnson / Janssen, Novavax, and Vaxzevria (formerly COVID-19 Vaccine AstraZeneca) (Singh and Upshur 2021). The types of currently FDA authorized vaccines are represented in Table 1. According to the Centers for disease control and prevention (CDC), everyone 12 years old or older is recommended to be vaccinated the first available vaccine from the currently authorized and available vaccines [https://www.cdc.gov].

Company	Туре	Doses	Storage
Oxford Uni- AstraZeneca	Viral vector	Two doses	2°-8° C
Pfizer - BioNTech	mRNA based	Two doses	-70° C
Moderna	mRNA based	Two doses	-20° C
Novavax	Protein based	Two doses	2°-8° C
Janssen	Viral vector	One dose	2°-8° C

Table1: FDA authorized vaccines against COVID-19 for emergency use.

1.2 Immune response

1.2.1 Immune response against viral infection

The innate and adaptive antiviral immune responses play critical roles against viral invasions through cellular components, immune molecules, and intrinsic blood components (Huang et al. 2021). The immune system antiviral response alteration significantly affects disease severity (Ren et al. 2021). Innate immunity is the host's first line defense mechanism against viral infections (Dzananovic et al. 2018). The innate immune response could be activated within minutes to several hours after pathogen recognition. Depending on the type of activated cells after the pathogen infection, the innate immune response could be further classified into an immediate innate immune response or early induced innate immune response. In most RNA viruses like coronaviruses, the innate immune response is activated by viral antigens recognition with pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). PRRs are expressed by the innate immune system cells like monocytes, neutrophils, and epithelial cells (Iwasaki and Medzhitov 2015). During innate immunity response, infected cells produce cytokines like interferons (IFNs) molecules, especially The IFN- α (alpha) and IFN- β (beta), which act as signaling molecules to activate other immune cells surrounding those who were infected (Rao et al. 2020).

1.2.2 Immune response in COVID-19 patients

Immune responses against SARS-CoV2 include hyper-inflammatory responses involving CD4+ T-cells and CD8+ T-cells differentiation and reactivity with viral antigens (Azkur et al. 2020, Catanzaro et al. 2020). CD4+ T-cells responses were directed against S, M, and N proteins and partially against non-structural protein 3 (nsp3), nsp4, and open reading frame 8 (ORF8) (Grifoni et al. 2020). Also, CD8+ T-cells responses were significantly reactive with antigens like nsp6, ORF3a, and the N protein (Grifoni et al. 2020). 2020).

Within a specific period of unsuccessful elimination of the pathogen by the innate immune system, the host activates adaptive immune responses against the invasion (Rao et al. 2020). During the adaptive immune response, the antigens are translocated to the lymphoid organs where B-Cells and T-Cells recognize them. B- and T-Cells become activated through released cytokines and differentiate into effector cells (Chaplin 2010, Marshall et al. 2018, Ghaffari et al. 2020).



Figure 1. Schematic diagram of SARS-CoV2 activation of host adaptive immune response. SARS-CoV2 molecular structure, (M) membrane proteins, (S) spike proteins, (N) nucleocapsid proteins, (E) envelope proteins, and viral genomic RNA. (1) SARS-CoV2 viral entry to the host cell through interaction between viral (S) proteins and the angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor 2 (ACE2) receptors of the host cell. (2) Viral replication and release from the host cells. (3) Antigen fragments presentation to T helper cells by the antigen-presenting cells like macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs) after viral engulfment and digestion. (4) Activated T helper cells release cytokines that activate B cells. (5) Activated B cells differentiation into plasma or memory B cells with high-affinity binding receptors to the SARS-CoV2. (6) Plasma B cells secrete IgM, IgG, and IgA antibodies that mediate neutralization when bind to SARS-CoV2 antigens and prevent viral entry into host cells (Ghaffari et al. 2020).

1.2.3 Effect of Disease Severity on eliciting immune response

Crevia et al., 2021 suggested four antibody response grades depending on COVID-19 disease severity include (1) mucosal antibody response (IgA) during mild cases that show few symptoms of COVID-19 disease; (2) delayed systemic IgA and IgG production in mild to moderate cases; (3) elevated serum levels of IgA and IgG in severe cases; and (4) critical COVID-19 cases shown very high serum titers of IgA and IgG (Cervia et al. 2021). The high titers of SARS-CoV2 specific antibodies are consistent with higher B-cells expression of the genes encoding for the constant regions of immunoglobulins IgA1, IgA2, IgG1, or IgG2 (Ren et al. 2021). Furthermore, serological analysis of innate and adaptive immune responses reported that the highest antibodies' levels were observed in severe COVID-19 patients (Carsetti et al. 2020). Innate and adaptive immune responses were reported to be related to disease severity. Other factors like age, obesity, and diabetes may also alter immune responses against COVID-19 disease. Elderly patients showed decreased production of IFNs, which led to altered immune responses (Sridharan et al. 2011, Rao et al. 2020). Also, significantly higher antibodies' responses were detected in severe COVID-19 cases than in mild ones (Rao et al. 2020, Zhang et al. 2020b, Cervia et al. 2021, Garcia-Beltran et al. 2021). Previous studies described differences between COVID-19 disease stages in peripheral immune cells (Su et al. 2020, Ren et al. 2021). Such differences revealed novel biological signatures of disease severity, such as dysregulation of JAK/STAT, MAPK/mTOR, and NF-.B immune signaling networks (Feyaerts et al. 2021).

Multi-omics of 139 COVID-19 patients significantly correlated a loss of specific metabolite classes and metabolic processes to the shift from mild to moderate disease state. The same study reported emerging and amplifying multiple unusual immune cell phenotypes due to disease severity (Su et al. 2020). Moreover, immune system responses to COVID-19 disease severity are accompanied by changes in B-cells subsets frequencies, subpopulation, and differentiation (Sosa-Hernández et al. 2020, Su et al. 2020). Another extensive analysis of 32 COVID-19 patients' immune responses reported a significant increase in mature natural killer (NK) cells, low T-cell numbers, and exhausted T-cell overexpressed mucin domain-3 (TIM-3) (Varchetta et al. 2021). Henry et al. (2020) described the prediction of in-hospital mortality via neutrophil to lymphocytes ratio, which is significantly increased in critical COVID-19 patients. Thus, altered immune responses due to COVID-19 severity with the contribution of the cytokine storm can be detrimental

and cause immune-mediated tissue injury (Song et al. 2020, Ren et al. 2021). Much work has been aimed to clarify the clinical characteristics (Chen et al. 2020a) and virological features (Lu et al. 2020, Wu et al. 2020). However, little is known about COVID-19 severity association with patients' immunological and inflammatory profiles.

1.2.4 T-cells and cytokines production

Two types of T lymphocytes are involved in the adaptive immune response: CD8+' killer' or 'cytotoxic' (CD8+T_c) cells and CD4+' helper' (CD4+T_h) cells (Kos and Engleman 1995). CD8+T_c cells can directly destroy the pathogen-infected cells and recruit different types of immune cells through cytokine signaling. CD8+T_c cells recognize specific viral antigens with their expressed T-cell receptors (TCRs). An infected cell displays the antigen on its surface with class I major histocompatibility complex (MHC), which recruits the binding with a specific type of CD8+T_c cell TCR. This binding activates the cytotoxic role of CD8+T_c cells (Varela-Rohena et al. 2008). CD4+ T_h cells bind with class II MHC on the antigen-presenting cell. An important function of CD4+ T_h cells is to recruit B-cells (lymphocytes that produce antibodies). Also, CD4+ T_h cells release cytokines that activate CD8+ T_c cells and their proliferation (Oxenius et al. 1998).

The excessive level of released cytokines (cytokine storm) in response to SARS-CoV2 infection is related to COVID-19 severity complications, hospitalization, and even mortality (Skinner et al. 2019, Sanli et al. 2021). Patients with the severe progression of COVID-19 showed signs of hyperinflammatory secondary hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis (HLH) syndrome. This syndrome is accompanied by a fatal cytokine storm and multiorgan failure (Skinner et al. 2019, Ruan et al. 2020). Significant increases in circulating cytokine levels such as TNF- α , IL-6, IL-2, IL-7, IL-10, TNF-a, G-CSF, IP-10, MCP-1, and MIP-1A were reported among the more severely COVID-19 patients compared to mild and moderate cases (Huang et al. 2020a).

Effector T-cells are vital for an effective immune response against viral infections. Despite that, recent studies showed relatively low circulating T-cell count in COVID-19 patients (Diao et al. 2020a, Zhang et al. 2020a). Cytokine storm and the marked reduction in T-cells counts, growth, and viability might be highly correlated to COVID disease fatality_(Kang et al. 2021). However, T cells' number and functional state in COVID-19 patients need to be more investigated (Diao et al. 2020b).

1.2.5 Interferons

Interferons (IFNs) are autocrine and paracrine secreted proteins. IFNs regulate several intercellular and intracellular molecular mechanisms, like tumor cell fate, innate and adaptive antiviral immune responses (Ahmed and Xiang 2011). The main three types of IFNs are type I, II, III, which are structurally and functionally different in humans (Hoffmann et al. 2015). Type I interferons consist of IFN- α , β , ε , κ , and ω and are produced by infected cells and the immune system (Ivashkiv and Donlin 2014). Type II is also produced by immune cells; however, it includes only one member, IFN- γ . Type III interferons consist of 3 subtypes of IFN- λ , produced by some immune cells and cells in the developmental pathway of epithelial cells or epithelial cells themselves (Lazear et al. 2019). IFNs were initially described as molecules that interfere with viral replication (Seo and Hahm 2010). The three types activate distinct STAT (signal transducer and activator of transcription) complexes in addition to several signaling cascades, such as immune response signaling pathways (Figure 2) (Takeuchi and Akira 2010, Schoggins et al. 2011, Garcia-Diaz et al. 2017). IFNs activate cellular interactions among other immune cells such as macrophages and natural killer cells (Huang et al. 2019).



Figure 2. Schematic diagram of the three types of interferons (I, II and III) receptor activation signaling pathways. Type I interferons (IFNs) include 13 types in mammalian cells such as (α , $\beta \omega$, κ , ε , δ , and, τ) that interact with IFN receptor 1 (IFNAR1) and IFNAR2. Type II has only IFN- γ that interacts with IFN- γ receptor 1 (IFNGR1) and IFNGR2. Type III IFN- λ s include three types that interact with IFN- λ receptor 1 (IFNLR1) and interleukin 10 receptor 2 (IL10R2). Type II IFN- γ binding to IFNGR1 form a complex which is stabilized by two IFNGR2 chains. The IFNs binding to IFNs receptors causes confirmational changes associated with two kinases from JAK family: JAK1 and TYK2 for IFNs type I and III; JAK1 and JAK2 for IFN- γ . Phosphorylated STAT1/2 bind to (GAS) interferon-gamma activated site. (IRF9) interferon regulatory factor 9; (ISGF3) interferon-stimulated gene factor 3; (ISRE) IFN-stimulated response element ;(P) phosphate; (STAT1/2) signal transducer and activator of transcription 1/2 (Zhang 2017).

1.3 Single-Cell RNA Sequencing

The first single-cell transcriptome analysis based on next-generation sequencing was published in 2009 (Tang et al. 2009). In recent years, single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) had advanced our knowledge of biological systems as it opened the gate for

studying cellular heterogeneity (Plass et al. 2018) and discovering previous hidden cellular populations (Montoro et al. 2018). scRNA-seq inspired computational biologists to evolve a wide range of analysis tools (Rostom et al. 2017). Accurate gene expression differences' assessment between individual cells helped identify more cellular populations and cell-cell communications that cannot be detected from pooled cells' analysis (Shaffer et al. 2017).

Several protocols are generating transcriptomic information from an isolated sample. The general scheme incorporates the following steps, single-cell isolation, complementary DNA (cDNA) library construction, and sequencing (Rostom et al. 2017, Vieth et al. 2017). 10x Genomics is a Droplet-based method that involves capturing each single cell from the sample in a microfluidic droplet. Computational methods are being applied to overcome detecting and excluding stressed cells or droplets containing more than one cell. Each droplet contains the necessary enzymes and chemicals to reversely transcribe the mRNAs for each cell while labeling them with a unique barcode of 16 nucleotides. Next, all cDNAs are pooled together for sequencing (Olsen and Baryawno 2018).

1.4 Cell-cell Interactions

Cell to cell communications via soluble and membrane-bound factors is fundamental for many cellular decisions, such as activating the cell cycle, programmed cell death, and immune response pathways against pathogens (Hermanowicz et al. 2020). Moreover, ligand-receptor interactions mediate other physiological and pathological signaling like cell adhesion, cellular recognition, and communication (Zhang et al. 2021). These regulated communications significantly impact many disease severity like cancer, autoimmune, and viral infection-related diseases (Oviedo-orta et al. 2000, Fruman and Walsh 2007, Rouse and Sehrawat 2010, Oktay et al. 2015). Thus, the coordination between cellular activities during cell infection by microorganisms directly affects the multicellular response, starting from the initial sensing of infection, mediated by innate PRRs, including Toll-like, RIG-I-like receptors, NOD-like receptors, and C-type lectin receptors (Takeuchi and Akira 2010). Continuously, the intracellular signaling cascade following this recognition triggers the expression of inflammatory mediators that act as signaling molecules in the process of pathogen elimination (Takeuchi and Akira 2010).

Moreover, cell-cell communications between immune cells such as macrophages, DCs, T-cells, and others are essential for the induction of antiviral responses through innate and adaptive immune responses, as well as the prevention of undesired immune system effects like hyperinflammatory lung disease in the case of COVID infected patients (Melenotte et al. 2020). So far, available treatment options for severely diagnosed COVID-19 patients are limited (Bénard et al. 2021). Thus, understanding such communications may lead to a better understanding of the disease progression, leading to better diagnosis, treatment, and disease prevention. Fortunately, single-cell RNA-seq data analysis approaches open the gate for closer insights into cell types and cellular differentiation trajectories. Several approaches have been developed recently to infer cell-cell communication from scRNA-seq data (Kumar et al. 2018, Raredon et al. 2019, Wang et al. 2019, Browaeys et al. 2020, Ren et al. 2020).

CHAPTER 2: Hypothesis and Objectives

2.1 Hypothesis:

The clinical picture of COVID-19 patients is ranging from developing mild and moderate symptoms to severe ones. The immune response in severe cases is believed to be altered, and patients suffer from serious symptoms accordingly. The interaction between blood immune cells plays a vital role in eliciting an efficient immune response to defeat infections. However, immune system alteration might happen in severe COVID-19 cases resulting in life-threatening symptoms.

Therefore, it is hypothesized that single-cell RNA sequencing data could identify blood cell-cell interactions in healthy individuals and the alteration that happened to COVID-19 patients in moderate versus severe cases to identify the proper immune response versus the alteration that happened in severe cases.

2.2 Objectives:

1. To cluster blood cells from healthy and COVID-19 patients and to identify cluster markers.

2. To assign cell types to the identified clusters.

3. To identify incoming and outgoing cell-cell interactions among blood cells.

4. To identify disruption in cell-cell interactions in COVID-19 cases compared to healthy individuals

5. To identify the differentially expressed genes in T cells from healthy and COVID-19 patients

6. To analyze pathways activity in T cells in healthy and COVID-19 patients.

CHAPTER 3: Materials and Methods

3.1 Data source

The samples) GEO data (12)RNA-seq were obtained from the [http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo] under the accession number GSE155673. The data was produced by Arunachalam et al., a research group in the USA, in 2020 (Arunachalam et al. 2020). Their paper is entitled "Systems biological assessment of immunity to mild versus severe COVID-19 infection in humans." The paper was published in Science Journal, Volume 369, Issue 6508, 2020. Cellular Indexing of Transcriptomes and Epitopes by Sequencing (CITE-seq) is a multimodal single-cell phenotyping technique. CITE-seq, besides RNA sequencing, was performed with DNA-barcoded antibodies for protein quantification and immune-phenotyping of cells, benefiting from current advances in single-cell sequencing approaches. (Stoeckius et al. 2017). The authors performed CITEseq to profile the gene and protein expression in PBMC samples of seven patients with COVID-19 and five healthy controls at both RNA and protein levels. Three out of the seven patients showed moderate disease symptoms, and the rest showed severe symptoms according to the WHO classification.

3.2 Single-Cell RNA-Seq Data Preprocessing

The count matrix of the 12 samples was processed with a quality check, and further downstream analyses were performed using the Seurat package (v.4.0.1) in R (v.4.0.4) (Butler et al. 2018, Stuart and Satija 2019).

3.2.1 Data Integration

Integration of the twelve samples was performed. Data were first normalized to identify and integrate anchors among cells using log transformation of the expression values for each gene and 10,000 molecules for each cell. The standardization value for each gene was calculated, shifting its expression; so the variance and mean were 1 and 0, respectively, across all cells.

Canonical correlational analysis (CCA) and data dimensionality reduction were done on the highly variable 2000 genes in the twelve samples to detect cells with similar biological states. K-nearest neighbors (KNNs) were identified and each pair of cells from the twelve samples represented an anchor. A calculated score for each anchor allowed for anchor filtering using shared nearest neighbor (SNN) graphs. The defined anchors were used to integrate all samples (Haghverdi et al. 2018).

3.2.2 Filtering low-quality cells

Because of the positive correlation between the expression level of detected mitochondrial genes and apoptosis (Detmer and Chan 2007, Galluzzi et al. 2012), the cells that showed "mitochondrial contamination", defined as >25% of transcripts are mitochondrial genes, were excluded. Such cells were considered of low-quality because they may represent apoptotic cells. The cells with abnormal gene counts (more than 30,000 or less than 500) were excluded from downstream analysis to avoid any doublets, multiplets, empty droplets, or premature cell rupture. Finally, cells with a total number of detected genes of less than 200 or more than 6,000 genes were also excluded to avoid false-positive reads from downstream analysis.

3.2.3 Dimensionality Reduction

Principal component analysis (PCA) was employed to emphasize variations among gene sets. Each gene set's information was represented in a corresponding principal component. An elbow plot was then generated using a heuristic method based on the standard deviation of each gene set to estimate the number of principal components used for further analysis. Twenty-five principal components were chosen for the data dimensionality reduction because more principal components added more features and fewer variability among gene sets.

3.3 Clustering of Single Cells

For cell clustering, a graph-based approach was performed using the function *FindClusters* implemented in Seurat with a resolution of 0.3. Based on the cell euclidean distance in the PCA space, cells were embedded in a graph structure (KNN graph). The edge weights between any pair of cells were refined based on their similarity and variability represented by their Jaccard similarity coefficient. Following edge refinement, using the previously determined first 25 PCs, edges were drawn between cells with similar gene expression patterns. Louvain algorithm was applied to group cells together as a modularity optimization technique. Finally, t-Distributed Stochastic Neighbor Embedding (TSNE) was used for cell visualization.

3.4 Identification of cell types

SingleR and Celldex packages implemented in R (Aran et al. 2019) were used to assign a cell type identity to the identified 22 clusters. The algorithm computed the similarity between each identified cluster against a reference dataset: The Human Primary Cell Atlas (HPCA), containing data from 713 microarrays which have been classified into 37 main cell types and 157 subtypes. For gene expression of each cluster and each sample of the reference dataset, the Spearman coefficient was computed. Eighty percent of the correlation values were used to perform correlation analysis, followed by multiple correlation coefficients aggregation per cell type. Another correlation analysis was performed incorporating the top cell types generated from the last step and the variable genes between those cell types. Several repeats of the previous step were performed until the top cell type was assigned to the cluster. Then clusters with the same cell types were merged. To identify whether an increase or a reduction in a specific cell population occurred because of the disease or the disease severity, GraphPad Prism software v6.0 was used for analysis of the percentage of each cell type among other cell population in each sample between healthy individuals, moderate and severe COVID-19 cases. Multiple comparison analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test.

3.5 Identification of cell type Markers

Wilcoxon Rank-Sum Test was performed to compare gene expression values from each cell type with the rest of the cells to identify the identified cells' types markers. Log fold change cutoff value > 0.5 and an adjusted p-value less than 0.05 were used to identify the cell type positive markers (upregulated genes compared to all other cells). For the gene to be considered in the differential expression analysis in each comparison, the minimum gene expression percentage should be more than 20% in either the cell type or the rest of the cells. Ingenuity pathways analysis (IPA) software was used to retrieve gene's location and family for all the identified genes in the dataset [QIAGEN Inc., https://www.qiagenbioinformatics.com/products/ingenuity-pathway-analysis]. The annotation was merged with the resulting cluster markers using CytoTalk web application "Integrate Excel" [https://cytotalk.com/] as represented in supplementary file 1.

3.6 Cell-cell communication analysis

To infer the intercellular communications between cell types in each condition (healthy individuals, moderate and severe COVID-19 cases), CellChat library in R was used (Jin et al. 2021). CellChat database is a manually curated database of human literature-supported ligand-receptor interactions. It contains (As for March 2021) 1,939 interactions, consists of 61.8%, 21.7% and 16.5% of paracrine/autocrine signaling interactions, extracellular matrix (ECM)-receptor interactions and cell-cell contact interactions, respectively (Jin et al., 2021). All interactions were classified into 229 signaling pathways. Firstly, Wilcoxon rank-sum test was performed to identify each cell type markers in each condition with the significance level of < 0.05. To avoid the noise effect, CellChat used a statistically robust mean method as described in the following equation:

$$EM = (1/2) Q_2 + 1/4((Q_1 + Q_3))$$

Where EM refers to the Ensemble mean. Q_1 , Q_2 , and Q_3 are the first, second, and third quartiles of the expression levels of a signaling gene in a cell group. Then, interactions probabilities were calculated between different cell groups across multiple signaling pathways in each condition. To identify significant interactions with a p-value < 0.05, CellChat permuted group labels of cells 100 times and recalculated the interactions probability described in the previous step. It calculates the aggregated cell-cell communication network by summarizing the interactions probability, which means calculating the number of significant interactions between any two cell types. To identify significantly differential pathways between healthy and COVID-19 cases, CellChat calculated the signaling pathways probability score for each condition alone by summarizing all the ligand-receptor interactions probabilities associated with each signaling pathway from the curated CellChat database. Next, the relative contribution of specific ligand-receptor pairs to the overall signaling pathways was calculated for the significantly differential pathways between healthy individuals and severe COVID-19 cases, between healthy individuals and moderate COVID-19 cases and between moderate and severe COVID-19 cases. Next, each signaling pathway between each two conditions was compared based on the information flow which is the sum of communication probability among all pairs of cell groups in the inferred intercellular network. Manifold learning and information flow are used for ranking all the significant signaling pathways based on their differences within the inferred networks between the moderate and severe datasets. The overlapping signaling pathways between each two conditions were ranked based on their pairwise Euclidean distance in the shared two-dimensional manifold. A more considerable distance implies a more significant difference.

3.7 T cells Analysis

T cells were subsetted from the Seurat object, which includes all the cells. The top 2,000 highly variable genes among T cells were identified. Then, PCA was performed, and the first 20 principal components were chosen for the downstream analysis. Three

comparisons were performed to identify the disease effect and its severity effect on T cells: severe COVID-19 cases T cells versus healthy individuals T cells, moderate COVID-19 cases T cells versus healthy individuals T cells, and severe versus moderate COVID-19 cases T cells. All analyses were performed using Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test using adjusted p-value < 0.05 and logFC cutoff ± 0.2 . The resulting differentially expressed genes among T cells of healthy, moderate and severe COVID-19 cases were used for pathways' enrichment using the Reactome database (Jassal et al. 2020). Furthermore, IFN- γ protein interactors were retrieved from STRING database (Szklarczyk et al. 2019).

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

The authors in the original study from which the data were retrieved performed CITE-seq using 10x Genomics technology and performed the demultiplex and transcripts quantification using CellRanger software v3.1.0 against the 10x Genomics GRCh38 reference v3.0.0 (Arunachalam et al., 2020). The current study aims to study cell-cell signaling interactions between blood cells in healthy individuals and COVID-19 patients in moderate and severe cases (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Schematic diagram of the analysis workflow. 12 RNA-seq samples were obtained from GEO database with the accession number GSE155673. Cells were clustered and cell types were assigned to the identified clusters. Cell-cell interactions were inferred. Then, T cells were plotted and differential expression analysis were performed on T cells followed by Reactome pathways enrichment. The above labeling boxes represent the tools used to perform each step in the analysis. (Created with BioRender.com).

4.1 Clustering of cells and identification of cell types markers

A total of 63,469 cells were analyzed from three groups (five healthy samples: 30,870 cells, three moderate COVID-19 cases samples: 13,269 cells, and four severe COVID-19 cases samples: 19,330 cells) as represented in Figure 4A. After excluding low-quality cells (as described in methods section 3.2.2; Figure 4B), 56,381 cells remain for the downstream analysis (five healthy samples: 29,213 cells, three moderate COVID-19 cases samples: 11,083 cells, and four severe COVID-19 cases samples: 11,083 cells, and four severe COVID-19 cases samples: 16,085 cells). A total of 25 principal components were used to abstract the data (Figure 4C).



Figure 4. Preprocessing and quality control of single cells. (**A**) Violin plots representing the total number of detected genes per cell (left panel), total number of counts per cell (middle panel) and the percentage of mitochondrial genes expression each cell (right panel). Cutoffs used for excluding low quality cells are marked with red color (upper limit) and green color (lower limit). (**B**) Elbow plot showing the variance among the first 40 principal components. The first 25 principal components were used for the downstream analysis. (**C**) t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding (t-SNE) projection of the data before excluding low quality cells (63,469 cells). Each cell is represented as a dot.

Clustering analysis identified 22 clusters, as shown in Figure 5A. The identified 22 clusters were assigned to 8 cell types using SingleR and celldex packages after calculating the similarity between each cell type markers and the human primary cell atlas database (Monocytes: 19,973, T cells: 16,768, NK cells: 8,538, Platelets: 5,332, B cells: 4,193 cells, CMP: 722, Pre-B cells CD34-: 493 and HSC: 362) as shown in Figure 5B.



Figure 5. Identification of eight cell types among blood samples. (**A**) t-SNE projection of the filtered data (56,381 cells) clustered into 22 clusters. Each cell is represented as a dot. (**B**) t-SNE projection of the cells color coded with the assigned cell types. (**C**) Heatmap representing the top 3 markers relative gene expression for each cell type. Red color denotes higher expression, while green color denotes lower expression. Each row represents one gene and each column represents one cell.

Differential expression analysis identified markers (genes) to be upregulated in each cell type with logFC > 0.5 and adjusted p-value < 0.05 as follows: 137 markers for NK cells, 117 markers for B cells, 296 markers for monocytes, 115 markers for CMP, 117 markers for T cells, 459 markers for platelets, 17 markers for HSC and 28 markers for pre-B cells CD34-. Top three markers identified for each cell type were represented in Figure 5C and all cell types markers were provided in supplementary file 1. Compositional

analysis identified that percentage of T cells significantly decreased from 41.5% in moderate COVID-19 cases to 16% in severe COVID-19 cases. On the other hand, cell percentage in all identified eight cell types were represented in supplementary file 2.


Figure 6. Compositional analysis. (**A**) tSNE projection representing each cell types in blue color and the rest of the cells in grey color. (**B**) Barplots representing percentage of each cell types among other cell types of each condition. Stars denote significant adjusted p value.

4.2 Signaling pathways' alterations through cell-cell interaction analysis

A total of 586 interactions in healthy, 603 in moderate COVID-19 cases, and 606 in severe COVID-19 cases were inferred using the CellChat package in R (as described in methods section 3.2.2). When comparing the total strength of incoming signaling patterns in moderate COVID-19 cases versus healthy individuals, there was an increase in T cells and a reduction in NK cells' incoming signaling. On the other hand, when comparing the total strength of incoming signaling patterns in severe COVID-19 cases versus healthy individuals, there was a reduction in T cells and an increase in NK cells incoming signaling as shown in Figure 7A, B and C and Figure 8A, B and C. Additionally, incoming signaling to platelets increases in severe COVID-19 cases when compared to healthy or moderate COVID-19 cases. Analysis of relative information flow at pathways level identified pathways to be found in healthy individuals, not in COVID-19 moderate or severe cases such as TNF pathway. On the other hand, pathways identified to be present in COVID-19 cases and not found in healthy individuals included SN, IL16, and JAM signaling pathways. Surprisingly, CD6 and ALCAM were found to be present in moderate COVID-19 cases, but not in severe ones. Furthermore, Resistin. THBS and MPZ signaling were identified in severe COVID-19 cases, but not in moderate ones.



Figure 7. Interaction signaling patterns in blood cells of healthy and COVID-19 patients. (**A**, **B** and **C**) Heatmaps representing probabilities of incoming signaling interactions in healthy, moderate and severe cases respectively. (**D**, **E** and **F**) Heatmaps represent outgoing signaling interactions in healthy, moderate and severe cases respectively. Rows represent signaling pathway and columns represent cell types. X-axis bar-plots represent sum of signaling interactions probabilities in each cell for all inferred signaling pathways. Y-axis bar plots represent sum of signaling interactions probabilities in each signaling pathway in all cell types.

The relative information flow between severe COVID-19 cases versus healthy individuals, moderate COVID-19 cases versus healthy individuals, and severe versus moderate COVID-19 cases were represented in Figure 8D, E and F.



Figure 8. Differential interactions among blood cells between healthy, moderate and severe COVID-19 cases. (A, B and C) Differential number of the overall interactions between severe cases and healthy (left), moderate cases and healthy (middle) and severe cases and moderate ones (right). Red color denotes a greater number of interactions respectively. While blue color denotes a smaller number of interactions. (D, E and F) Relative information flow of inferred signaling interactions in severe cases versus healthy (left), moderate cases versus healthy (middle) and severe cases versus moderate ones (right) respectively.

SN signaling pathway, which was identified to be present in moderate and severe COVID-19 cases only, included the interaction between the pair SIGLEC1- SPN as shown in Figure 9. SIGLEC1 was found to be expressed in monocytes of moderate and severe COVID-19 cases. SIGLEC1- SPN signaling was identified to be directed from monocytes towards monocytes, T cells, NK cells, multipotent common myeloid progenitor (CMP) cells and hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) (Figure 9D).



Figure 9. SN signaling pathway induction in moderate and severe COVID-19 cases. (A) tSNE projection representing monocytes as black dots and other cell types as grey dots. (B) Expression level of SIGLEC1 in different conditions (healthy, moderate and severe cases). (C) Violin plot representing SIGLEC1 expression level in all cells from healthy, moderate and severe COVID-19 cases. (D) Network representing SIGLEC1-SPN signaling in moderate cases (left panel) and in severe cases (right panel). Signaling are outgoing from monocytes to monocytes, NK cells, T cells, CMP and HSC cells. (E) Violin plot representing IFNG expression level in different cell types in healthy (left), moderate (middle) and severe cases (right).

4.3 T cells differential expression analysis

Clustering of T cells identified different distribution of cells on the tSNE plot based on the disease condition (Figure 10A and B). The differential expression analysis identified 201 upregulated genes and 76 downregulated genes when comparing severe COVID-19 cases T cells versus healthy individuals T cells. When moderate COVID-19 T cells were compared to healthy ones, 181 genes were found to be upregulated, and 78 genes were found to be downregulated. Finally, comparing T cells in severe versus moderate COVID-19 cases identified 34 upregulated genes and 39 downregulated genes (Figure 10C). Top 15 upregulated and downregulated genes in each comparison were represented in Figure 10D, E, and F and all differentially expressed genes resulting from the three comparisons were represented in supplementary file 3. The top 25 genes identified to be upregulated in T cells of moderate COVID-19 cases compared to healthy individuals were represented in table 2 one along with their logFC in severe versus moderate COVID-19 T cells. Interestingly, some of the genes upregulated in moderate COVID-19 T cells when compared to moderate ones such as IRF9, STAT1, HLA-C, IFITM, IFI6 and ITGA4.

Gene	Description	LogFC in Moderate vs Healthy	LogFC in Severe vs Moderate
IGKC	Immunoglobulin kappa constant	1.90	0.81
IGLC2	Immunoglobulin lambda constant 2	1.36	0.32
IGLC3	Immunoglobulin lambda constant 3 (Kern-Oz+ marker)	1.14	0.47
IFI44L	Interferon induced protein 44 like	1.13	
ISG15	ISG15 ubiquitin like modifier	1.07	
IGHA1	Immunoglobulin heavy constant alpha 1	0.93	0.68
IFI6	Interferon alpha inducible protein 6	0.91	-0.25
XAF1	XIAP associated factor 1	0.90	
MX1	MX dynamin like GTPase 1	0.80	
JCHAIN	Joining chain of multimeric IgA and IgM	0.72	0.41
IGHM	Immunoglobulin heavy constant mu	0.65	
IFITM1	Interferon induced transmembrane protein	0.62	-0.36
XIST	X inactive specific transcript	0.59	-0.74
EIF2AK2	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 alpha kinase 2	0.58	
MTRNR2L8	MT-RNR2 like 8	0.57	-1.34
LY6E	Lymphocyte antigen 6 family member E	0.57	
IRF7	Interferon regulatory factor 7	0.48	
SP100	SP100 nuclear antigen	0.47	
EPSTI1	Epithelial stromal interaction 1	0.47	
SMCHD1	Structural maintenance of chromosomes flexible hinge domain containing 1	0.47	
RNF213	Ring finger protein 213	0.46	
MTRNR2L12	MT-RNR2 like 12	0.45	
STAT1	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 1	0.43	-0.23
ITGA4	Integrin subunit alpha 4	0.41	-0.23
OAS1	2'-5'-Oligoadenylate Synthetase 1	0.40	

 Table 2: Top 25 upregulated differentially expressed genes in moderate COVID-19

 cases compared to healthy individuals and their logFC in severe vs moderate cases.

4.4 Pathways activity analysis in T cells

Pathways enrichment analysis using Reactome identified seven upregulated and 48 downregulated pathways in severe versus healthy comparison. Twenty-two upregulated and 40 downregulated pathways in the moderate versus healthy comparison, while 7 upregulated and 48 downregulated in severe COVID-19 cases compared to healthy and 24 upregulated and 20 downregulated pathways in the severe versus moderate comparison using false discover rate < 0.001 (tables 3,4 and 4; supplementary file 3). The top two pathways resulted from each comparison were represented in Figure 10G and the top ten upregulated and downregulated pathways were represented in tables three, four and five for severe COVID-19 compared to healthy individuals, moderate COVID-19 compared to healthy individuals and severe compared to moderate COVID-19 cases respectively. Interferon-gamma signaling and ISG15 antiviral mechanism were upregulated in T cells of moderate Covid-19 patients compared to healthy ones. However, the interferon signaling pathway was downregulated in severe cases T cells compared to moderate ones.

Pathway name	Status	Reactions found/ Total reactions	FDR Adjusted P- Value
Cytokine Signaling in Immune system	Upregulated	218/708	2.14021E-10
Interferon alpha/beta signaling	Upregulated	4/22	4.23205E-10
Interferon Signaling	Upregulated	24/69	2.52897E-09
Immune System	Upregulated	395/1621	6.39654E-07
Interleukin-4 and Interleukin-13 signaling	Upregulated	25/47	5.30247E-05
ATF6 (ATF6-alpha) activates chaperone genes	Upregulated	3/5	5.30247E-05
ATF6 (ATF6-alpha) activates chaperones	Upregulated	4/10	9.3349E-05
Interleukin-6 signaling	Upregulated	17/20	0.001647834
Signaling by Interleukins	Upregulated	173/493	0.004010453
Apoptosis induced DNA fragmentation	Upregulated	3/12	0.007979309
Nonsense Mediated Decay (NMD) independent of the Exon Junction Complex (EJC)	Downregulated	1/1	2.44249E-15
Formation of a pool of free 40S subunits	Downregulated	2/2	2.44249E-15
Viral mRNA Translation	Downregulated	2/2	2.44249E-15
SRP-dependent cotranslational protein targeting to membrane	Downregulated	5/5	2.44249E-15
L13a-mediated translational silencing of Ceruloplasmin expression	Downregulated	3/3	2.44249E-15
GTP hydrolysis and joining of the 60S ribosomal subunit	Downregulated	3/3	2.44249E-15
Major pathway of rRNA processing in the nucleolus and cytosol	Downregulated	6/7	2.44249E-15
Nonsense-Mediated Decay (NMD)	Downregulated	5/6	2.44249E-15
Peptide chain elongation	Downregulated	4/5	2.44249E-15
Nonsense Mediated Decay (NMD) enhanced by the Exon Junction Complex (EJC)	Downregulated	4/5	2.44249E-15

Table 3: Top 10 upregulated and downregulated pathways in severe COVID-19cases compared to healthy individuals.

Pathway name	Status	Reactions found/ Total reactions	FDR Adjusted P-Value
Interferon gamma signaling	Upregulated	11/16	1.4988E-14
Interferon Signaling	Upregulated	46/69	1.4988E-14
Interferon alpha/beta signaling	Upregulated	11/22	1.4988E-14
Cytokine Signaling in Immune system	Upregulated	182/708	1.4988E-14
Immune System	Upregulated	411/1621	1.4988E-14
Phosphorylation of CD3 and TCR zeta chains	Upregulated	5/7	1.66103E-11
Generation of second messenger molecules	Upregulated	6/17	3.28804E-11
Translocation of ZAP-70 to Immunological synapse	Upregulated	4/4	9.85558E-11
PD-1 signaling	Upregulated	1/5	1.89771E-10
Endosomal/Vacuolar pathway	Upregulated	3/4	1.89771E-10
Formation of a pool of free 40S subunits	Downregulated	2/2	1.66533E-15
Nonsense Mediated Decay (NMD) independent of the Exon Junction Complex (EJC)	Downregulated	1/1	1.66533E-15
L13a-mediated translational silencing of Ceruloplasmin expression	Downregulated	3/3	1.66533E-15
GTP hydrolysis and joining of the 60S ribosomal subunit	Downregulated	3/3	1.66533E-15
Viral mRNA Translation	Downregulated	2/2	1.66533E-15
SRP-dependent cotranslational protein targeting to membrane	Downregulated	5/5	1.66533E-15
Translation initiation complex formation	Downregulated	2/2	1.66533E-15
Ribosomal scanning and start codon recognition	Downregulated	2/2	1.66533E-15
Eukaryotic Translation Elongation	Downregulated	8/9	1.66533E-15
Major pathway of rRNA processing in the nucleolus and cytosol	Downregulated	6/7	1.66533E-15

Table 4: Top 10 upregulated and downregulated pathways in moderate COVID-19cases compared to healthy individuals.

Table 5: Top 10 upregulated and downregulated pathways in severe COVID-19cases compared to moderate ones.

Pathway name	Status	Reactions found/ Total reactions	FDR Adjusted P- Value
Scavenging of heme from plasma	Upregulated	1/12	0.00015359
Apoptosis induced DNA fragmentation	Upregulated	2/12	0.000483111
Binding and Uptake of Ligands by Scavenger Receptors	Upregulated	1/33	0.000483111
Classical antibody-mediated complement activation	Upregulated	2/2	0.000483111
Eukaryotic Translation Elongation	Upregulated	6/9	0.000483111
FCGR activation	Upregulated	6/6	0.000483111
Formation of Senescence-Associated Heterochromatin Foci	Upregulated	1/2	0.000483289
Creation of C4 and C2 activators	Upregulated	2/8	0.000483289
Formation of the ternary complex, and subsequently, the 43S	Upregulated	1/3	0.000483289
Initial triggering of complement	Upregulated	4/21	0.000599555
Endosomal/Vacuolar pathway	Downregulated	3/4	7.99361E-15
Interferon gamma signaling	Downregulated	9/16	7.99361E-15
Interferon alpha/beta signaling	Downregulated	9/22	7.99361E-15
Interferon Signaling	Downregulated	20/69	7.99361E-15
Cytokine Signaling in Immune system	Downregulated	94/708	7.99361E-15
Antigen Presentation: Folding, assembly and peptide loading of class I MHC	Downregulated	13/16	2.26485E-14
rRNA processing in the mitochondrion	Downregulated	1/6	2.26485E-14
tRNA processing in the mitochondrion	Downregulated	1/3	6.4948E-14
ER-Phagosome pathway	Downregulated	4/10	9.72555E-13
Immunoregulatory interactions between a Lymphoid and a non-Lymphoid cell	Downregulated	14/44	2.06635E-12



Figure 10. T cells differential expression analysis. (A) tSNE projection representing monocytes as black dots and other cell types as grey dots. (B) tSNE projection of T cells alone from healthy and COVID-19 cases. (C) Bar plot representing number of differentially expressed genes in T cells from 3 comparisons: severe COVID-19 cases versus healthy, moderate COVID-19 cases versus healthy and Severe versus moderate COVID-19 cases. (D, E and F) Heatmaps representing the top 15 upregulated and downregulated genes from the three comparisons mentioned in A respectively. (G) The top 2 upregulated and downregulated pathways identified in the three comparisons mentioned in A resulting from Reactome enrichment analysis. Genes used for enrichment were chose based on the following criteria: adjusted p value < 0.05 and logFC +-0.2.

4.5 Interferon-gamma protein-protein interaction

Protein-protein interactions of IFN- γ was retrieved from STRING database including interactions with SOCS1, SOCS3, STAT1, STAT4, IFNGR1, IFNGR2, TNF, FOXP3, IRF1 and RELA as shown in Figure 11A. SOCS3, the negative regulator of IFN- γ showed upregulation in both moderate and severe COVID-19 cases, while the downstream of IFN- γ signaling such as STAT1 and IRF1 had lower level of expression in severe COVID-19 cases and in both moderate and severe COVID-19 cases respectively (Figure 11C).



Figure 11. Interferon gamma protein-protein interactions. (A) Interferon gamma and its protein-protein interactions retrieved from STRING database. (B and C) Violin plots representing IFNG and its protein-protein interactors expression level in T cells of healthy, moderate COVID cases and severe COVID cases.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

Intensive care and hospitalization may be a necessity for some COVID-19 patients. The more the number of hospitalized patients, the more the strain on health care systems. So, understanding the critical activators of the disease severity could reduce hospitalization rates and an economic burden worldwide (Laforge et al. 2020, Sayan et al. 2021). An indepth evaluation of the hospitalized patients' immune systems and illustrating differences between mild, moderate, and severe COVID-19 cases help identify such activators (Tang et al. 2021). Previous studies described differences between COVID-19 disease stages in peripheral immune cells (Su et al. 2020, Ren et al. 2021). Such differences revealed novel biological signatures of disease severity, such as dysregulation of JAK/STAT, MAPK/mTOR, and NF-B immune signaling networks (Feyaerts et al. 2021). The current study aims to address the alteration of interactions between blood cells in moderate and severe COVID-19 cases.

5.1 COVID-19 Severity influence on cell counts

Clustering of scRNA-seq data of blood samples from five healthy, three moderate, and four severe COVID-19 cases resulted in identification of eight blood cell types: monocytes, T cells, NK cells, platelets, B cells, CMP, Pre-B cells CD34-and HSC (Figure 5B). T cells percentage among all population in severe COVID-19 cases was found to be significantly reduced. T cells percentage decreased from 32.76% in healthy individuals to 16% in severe cases as shown in Figure 6A and B. T cells were reported previously to be significantly reduced in COVID-19 patients with correlation to disease severity (Diao et al. 2020b, Huang et al. 2020b, Zhang et al. 2020b). A previous study on CD3+ T-cells' response to COVID-19 revealed suppression in their counts, which may be an underlying mechanism for disease progression and fatality (Xu et al. 2020). Both CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells are lower in severe COVID-19 patients than in mild and moderate cases (Song et al. 2020b, Zhang et al. 2020c). Additionally, in a study by Song et al., CD3+ T-cells involved

in activating CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells were decreased in the severe group compared to a mild clinical presentation (Song et al. 2020). A retrospective review of the T-cells and serum cytokines concentration of 522 COVID-19 confirmed cases and 40 healthy controls also revealed a dramatic reduction of T-cells, especially in the intensive care unit admitted cases. Counts of total T cells, CD4+ T or CD8+ T cells lower than expected, were positively correlated with disease severity (Diao et al. 2020b). The definite mechanism by which some patients develop severe immune reactions to SARS-CoV2, like an exhausted phenotype and T-cell reduction, is still not fully understood.

5.2 Cell-cell interactions alteration in COVID-19 cases

In addition to detecting lower count of T cells in severe COVID-19 cases, analysis of cell-cell interactions identified less overall incoming signaling to T cells in severe cases when compared to healthy individuals and when compared to moderate COVID-19 cases as shown in Figure 7. On the other hand, more incoming signaling was identified to occur to NK cells in severe COVID-19 cases compared to moderate cases (Figure 7). Comparing signaling interactions between the three groups (healthy, moderate and severe COVID-19 cases) identified alteration of signaling between healthy and disease states and between moderate and severe COVID-19 cases.

Our results inferred CD6 signaling to occur among cells from moderate COVID-19 cases, but not in severe ones through CD6-ALCAM interaction. CD6 and ALCAM interaction was the first described example of an interaction between a scavenger receptor cysteine-rich domain and an immunoglobulin-like domain (Hassan et al. 2004). The CD6/ALCAM interaction is involved in T-cell activation and proliferation and is essential for optimal immune response (Chappell et al. 2015). This indicates lack of T cells activation in severe COVID-19 cases that might be related to the observed clinical picture.

Resistin signaling through RETN-CAP1 and RETN-TLR4 was inferred to occur in severe COVID-19 cases, but not in moderate ones (Figure 8F). RETN is one member of the RELMs (Resistin-Like Molecules) molecules expressed by macrophages, monocytes, and neutrophils (Jang et al. 2015). Resistin-Like Molecules (RELM) are mainly associated with metabolic disorders like diabetes and are also expressed in a wide range of microbial and inflammatory diseases (Pine et al. 2018). Our results identified RETN to have logFC of 1.44 when comparing T cells from severe COVID-19 cases with moderate ones. However, RETN role during inflammatory response is not clear. A study reported that RETN binds to the Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) to trigger a switch from proinflammatory to anti-inflammatory responses through STAT3 signaling induction (Jang et al. 2017). Other studies reported that Resistin has an inflammation promotion role through release of cytokines like IL-6, TNF α , and IL-1 β in human monocytes (Jiang et al. 2014, Lee et al. 2014).

Interestingly SN signaling through SPN-SIGLEC1 was identified to occur in both moderate and severe COVID-19 cases, but not in healthy individuals. Sialic acid-binding immunoglobulin Ig lectin-1 (SIGLEC1) is a sialoadhesion macrophage receptor that modulates interactions with some immune cells, hemopoietic, and T-cells (Jans et al. 2018). Our results showed overexpression of SIGLEC1 in monocytes as shown in Figure 9B and C. This increase in its expression level allowed SPN signaling to occur through SPN-SIGLEC1 from monocytes to monocytes, NK cells, T cells, CMP and HSC cells (Figure 9D). Previously, it was reported that upregulation of SIGLEC1 expression through macrophages had negative correlation with IFN- γ production from T cells (Zheng et al. 2015, Jans et al. 2018). Another microarray study reported that IFN- γ inhibited production by CD4+T cells was due to RSV-induced SIGLEC1 upregulation in human adult RSV infected monocytes (Jans et al. 2018). Our results showed a reduction in IFN- γ in some cell types including T cells as shown in Figure 9E. Although the SPN signaling promotes the expression of IFN- γ by CD4+T cells during TCR activation (Ramírez-Pliego et al. 2007),

there is a possibility that the Siglec-1 dependent reduction of IFN- γ is due to Siglec-SPN cell-cell adhesion and communication (Kirchberger et al. 2005, Jans et al. 2018).

5.3 Gene expression alteration in T cells of COVID-19 cases

Genes identified to be downregulated in severe COVID-19 cases' T cells compared to moderate ones and at same time were found upregulated in moderate COVID-19 cases' T cells compared to healthy individuals might play a role in the altered immune response in severe COVID-19 cases. They included STAT1, IRF9, HLA-C, IFITM, IFI6 and ITGA4. Phosphorylated STAT1 translocates to the nucleus, binds to a regulatory DNA element termed gamma-activated sequence (GAS), then induces transcription of interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs). The ISGs include several other transcription factors such as interferon response factor 9 (IRF9) and others. The IRFs have a role in recognizing pathogens, the expression of IFNs, and pro-inflammatory cytokines (Honda and Taniguchi 2006). Moreover, IFN- γ is involved in the upregulation of MHC-I molecules, contributing to the APCs in promoting the NK cells activity, Th cells regulation, expression of MHC-II molecules, and B cells function antiviral immune response (Schroder et al. 2004). The interferon-inducible transmembrane protein1 (IFITM1), which was also downregulated in T cells of severe cases compared to moderate ones, inhibits the viral invasion of some viruses that enter via the host cell plasma membrane (Smith et al. 2019). Furthermore, the downregulation of Interferon-inducible protein 6 (IFI6) might also contribute to the severity of the infection. Ectopic expression of IFI6 has shown to impair CD81/CLDN1 interaction and significantly reduced HCV viral entry (Meyer et al. 2015). Moreover, IFI6 was reported to reduce apoptosis in HBV infected cells caused by type 1 interferon (Park et al. 2013). Additionally, Integrins alpha-4 (ITGA4) receptor was reported to have a role in cytotoxic T-cell interaction with target cells (Fujita et al. 2015). It is also expressed on immune cells and showed a role in T cells migration in different organs (Glatigny et al. 2011). The relationship between those altered genes in severe COVID-19 cases might need further investigation.

5.4 IFN-*γ* signaling alteration in severe COVID-19 cases

Comparing T cells pathways activity in healthy and disease statuses identified IFN- γ (interferon gamma) signaling pathway to be upregulated in moderate COVID-19 cases when compared to healthy individuals. However, IFN- γ signaling pathway was downregulated in severe COVID-19 cases when compared to moderate ones, and not significantly detected when compared to healthy individuals (Figure 10G). IFN- γ receptor (IFNGR) complex consists of two distinct chains, high-affinity IFNGR1 (alpha) and a lowaffinity IFNGR2 (beta) (Pestka et al. 2004). Once The IFNGR complex binds to IFN- γ , it undergoes a conformational change that recruits the receptor-associated Janus protein tyrosine kinases 1 (JAK1) and JAK2 to the complex. IFN-y binding to IFNGR receptors induces JAK2 phosphorylation, which in turn transphosphorylates JAK1 (Lasfar et al. 2014). IFN- γ can exert direct (Hwang et al. 2012) and indirect antiviral effects on infected cells (He et al. 2004). Direct activation of neighboring immune cells like natural killer cells and macrophages triggers proinflammatory and antiviral activities of those cells (Lee et al. 2000). Moreover, IFN- γ modulates the differentiation and maturation of T-cells and Bcells (Vazquez et al. 2015). The indirect effect includes induction of the expression of HLA-DR, ICAM-1, IL-18BP, and other genes that mediates the antiviral on an IL-1 expression dependent manner (Hurgin et al. 2007). IFN- γ inhibits viral invasion and replication of a variety of viruses including HIV type-1 virus, hepatitis C virus, the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV), BK virus (BKV), herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) and EBOV virus (Dhawan et al. 1995, Rowland et al. 2001, Pierce et al. 2005, Abend et al. 2007, Wei et al. 2009, Rhein et al. 2015).

However, viruses may inhibit IFNs production through preventing the entry of IFNregulating transcription factors (IRFs) to the nucleus (Devasthanam 2014). COVID-19 has recently been reported to interfere with TBK1 and RNF41 proteins, which are mediators of the IFNs' activities (Gordon et al. 2020). Furthermore, insufficient activation time of IFN signaling was reported to contributes to COVID-19 disease progression or even lethality (Rao et al. 2020). The reduction in IFN- γ signaling in severe COVID-19 cases compared to moderate ones (Figure 10G) indicates improper immune response activation in T cells from severe COVID-19 patients.

IFN- γ have protein-protein interactions with the following molecules (retrieved from STRING database): IRF1, SOCS1, SOCS3, STAT1, STAT4, RELA, TNF, IFNGR1, IFNGR2 and FOXP3 (Figure 11A). Interestingly, SOCS3 (The suppressor of cytokine signaling 3) level was found to be upregulated in moderate and severe COVID-19 cases compared to healthy individuals with logFC of 0.28 and 0.63; respectively as shown in Figure 11C, while SOCS1 expression level was not significantly altered. SOCS1 and SOCS3 down-modulate the response of the immune cells to IFN- γ during the innate immune response (Jager et al. 2011). For example, the lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) induces expression of SOCS3 in T-cells, resulting in impaired antiviral response and viral resistance. Moreover, LCMV-infected mice were treated with IL-7 repressed SOCS3 expression and supported T-cells antiviral functions via mediating T-cells' survival and differentiation (Pellegrini et al. 2011). In the same context, the infection of human cells by either Epstein-Barr virus or Herpes simplex virus (HSV) stimulated SOCS3 expression and IFN-I production and function (Yokota et al. 2005). Additionally, SOCS3 expression may have a role in HIV-1 evasion to the innate immune response in the central nervous system by preventing the effect of IFN- β on HIV-1 replication within the macrophages (Akhtar et al. 2010). SOCS protein family members inhibit the activation of STAT proteins by either binding JAK kinases and inhibit their phosphorylation activities or by inhibiting STAT proteins' recruitment to the cytokine receptor complex (Liau et al. 2018). STAT1 was found in our results to be downregulated in severe COVID-19 T cells when compared to moderate ones (Figure 11C).

Our results showed also that IRF1 (interferon regulatory factor 1) was downregulated in T cells in severe COVID-19 cases when compared to healthy individuals (Figure 11C). IRF1 was reported to be highly correlated to IFN- γ exposure more than other

IFNs (Garcia-Diaz et al. 2017). Also, IRF1 restricts the chikungunya virus (CHIKV) and Ross River virus (RRV) infections in stromal cells, especially muscle cells (Nair et al. 2017). IRF1 downregulation in severe COVID-19 cases' T cells might also have a contribution to the elicited improper immune response compared to moderate COVID-19 cases.

The tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) enhances IFN- γ activity by stimulating Jak2 kinase activity, which triggers STAT1 phosphorylation (Kim et al. 2015). Increased Jak2 and STAT1 phosphorylation was observed within minutes upon TNF- α treatment as well as (IFNGR1) tyrosine phosphorylation (Kim et al. 2015). Also, the *IRF*1 and *IRF*8 transcription factors overexpression by IFN- γ induces the transcriptional activity of the human TNF- α in mouse macrophages (Sol et al. 2008). TNF expression level showed a little reduction in severe COVID-19 cases (Figure 11C) and TNF signaling was not identified to occur in moderate nor severe COVID-19 cases as shown in Figure 8.

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION

Some COVID-19 patients might have mild symptoms or even be asymptomatic, while others may suffer from severe symptoms and irreversible complications resulting in life threatening conditions. More than three million deaths were reported till April 2021 worldwide with no effective treatment available. Understanding how patients' immune system responds to the infection in moderate versus severe COVID-19 cases might identify new therapeutic targets. ScRNA-seq analysis of blood samples from five healthy individuals, three moderate and four severe COVID-19 cases was performed to identify cell-cell interactions alteration between blood cell types and to identify differentially expressed genes and pathways in T cells of the three groups. T cells percentage among other identified eight cell types decreased from 32.76% in healthy individuals to only 16% in severe COVID-19 cases. Cell-cell interactions analysis identified a reduction in the overall T cells incoming signaling as well. Besides, activation of SN pathway through SPN-SIGLEC1 interaction resulted in reduction of IFN- γ gene expression level. At pathways level, IFN-γ signaling was identified to be upregulated in moderate COVID-19 cases' T cells, but was downregulated in severe cases' T cells. Downstream targets of IFN-y such as STAT1 and IRF1, which play critical roles in antiviral activity, showed also downregulation in their gene expression level. On the other hand, the negative regulator of IFN-γ signaling -SOCS3- showed significant increase in severe COVID-19 cases compared to healthy individuals and moderate COVID-19 cases. Altogether, COVID-19 severe cases showed improper antiviral activity from T cells number reduction and T cells incoming signaling decrease to alteration of IFN-y response, which might contribute in the observed symptoms severity compared to moderate COVID-19 patients.

References:

- Abend JR, Low JA, Imperiale MJ. Inhibitory effect of gamma interferon on BK virus gene expression and replication. J Virol. 2007;81(1):272–9.
- Ahmed KA, Xiang J. Mechanisms of cellular communication through intercellular protein transfer. J Cell Mol Med. 2011;15(7):1458–73.
- Akhtar LN, Qin H, Muldowney MT, Yanagisawa LL, Kutsch O, Clements JE,
 Benveniste EN. SOCS3 Inhibits Antiviral IFN-β Signaling to Enhance HIV-1
 Replication in Macrophages. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 2010;185(4):2393–404.
- Aran D, Looney AP, Liu L, Wu E, Fong V, Hsu A, Chak S, Naikawadi RP, Wolters PJ, Abate AR, Butte AJ, Bhattacharya M. Reference-based analysis of lung single-cell sequencing reveals a transitional profibrotic macrophage. Nat Immunol. 2019;20(2):163–72.
- Arunachalam PS, Wimmers F, Mok CKP, Perera RAPM, Scott M, Hagan T, Sigal N, Feng Y, Bristow L, Tak-Yin Tsang O, Wagh D, Coller J, Pellegrini KL, Kazmin D, Alaaeddine G, Leung WS, Chan JMC, Chik TSH, Choi CYC, Huerta C, Paine McCullough M, Lv H, Anderson E, Edupuganti S, Upadhyay AA, Bosinger SE, Maecker HT, Khatri P, Rouphael N, Peiris M, Pulendran B. Systems biological assessment of immunity to mild versus severe COVID-19 infection in humans. Science. 2020;369(6508):1210–20.
- Azkur AK, Akdis M, Azkur D, Sokolowska M, Veen W van de, Brüggen M-C,
 O'Mahony L, Gao Y, Nadeau K, Akdis CA. Immune response to SARS-CoV-2 and mechanisms of immunopathological changes in COVID-19. Allergy. 2020;75(7):1564–81.
- Bénard A, Jacobsen A, Brunner M, Krautz C, Klösch B, Swierzy I, Naschberger E, Podolska MJ, Kouhestani D, David P, Birkholz T, Castellanos I, Trufa D, Sirbu H,

Vetter M, Kremer AE, Hildner K, Hecker A, Edinger F, Tenbusch M, Mühl-Zürbes P, Steinkasserer A, Richter E, Streeck H, Berger MM, Brenner T, Weigand MA, Swirski FK, Schett G, Grützmann R, Weber GF. Interleukin-3 is a predictive marker for severity and outcome during SARS-CoV-2 infections. Nat Commun. Nature Publishing Group; 2021;12(1):1112.

- Bose S, Adapa S, Aeddula NR, Roy S, Nandikanti D, Vupadhyayula PM, Naramala S, Gayam V, Muppidi V, Konala VM. Medical Management of COVID-19: Evidence and Experience. J Clin Med Res. 2020;12(6):329–43.
- Browaeys R, Saelens W, Saeys Y. NicheNet: modeling intercellular communication by linking ligands to target genes. Nat Methods. 2020;17(2):159–62.
- Butler A, Hoffman P, Smibert P, Papalexi E, Satija R. Integrating single-cell transcriptomic data across different conditions, technologies, and species. Nat Biotechnol. Nature Publishing Group; 2018;36(5):411–20.
- Carsetti R, Zaffina S, Piano Mortari E, Terreri S, Corrente F, Capponi C, Palomba P, Mirabella M, Cascioli S, Palange P, Cuccaro I, Milito C, Zumla A, Maeurer M, Camisa V, Vinci MR, Santoro A, Cimini E, Marchioni L, Nicastri E, Palmieri F, Agrati C, Ippolito G, Porzio O, Concato C, Onetti Muda A, Raponi M, Quintarelli C, Quinti I, Locatelli F. Different Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses to SARS-CoV-2 Infection of Asymptomatic, Mild, and Severe Cases. Front Immunol. 2020;11:610300.
- Catanzaro M, Fagiani F, Racchi M, Corsini E, Govoni S, Lanni C. Immune response in COVID-19: addressing a pharmacological challenge by targeting pathways triggered by SARS-CoV-2. Signal Transduct Target Ther. Nature Publishing Group; 2020;5(1):1–10.
- Cervia C, Nilsson J, Zurbuchen Y, Valaperti A, Schreiner J, Wolfensberger A, Raeber ME, Adamo S, Weigang S, Emmenegger M, Hasler S, Bosshard PP, De Cecco E,

Bächli E, Rudiger A, Stüssi-Helbling M, Huber LC, Zinkernagel AS, Schaer DJ, Aguzzi A, Kochs G, Held U, Probst-Müller E, Rampini SK, Boyman O. Systemic and mucosal antibody responses specific to SARS-CoV-2 during mild versus severe COVID-19. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2021;147(2):545-557.e9.

- Chaplin DD. Overview of the Immune Response. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010;125(2 Suppl 2):S3-23.
- Chappell PE, Garner LI, Yan J, Metcalfe C, Hatherley D, Johnson S, Robinson CV, Lea SM, Brown MH. Structures of CD6 and Its Ligand CD166 Give Insight into Their Interaction. Struct Lond Engl 1993. 2015;23(8):1426–36.
- Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, Qu J, Gong F, Han Y, Qiu Y, Wang J, Liu Y, Wei Y, Xia J, Yu T, Zhang X, Zhang L. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. Lancet Lond Engl. 2020a;395(10223):507–13.
- Chen Z, Yang X, Bi G, Liang J, Hu Z, Zhao M, Li M, Lu T, Zheng Y, Sui Q, Yang Y, Zhan C, Jiang W, Wang Q, Tan L. Ligand-receptor interaction atlas within and between tumor cells and T cells in lung adenocarcinoma. Int J Biol Sci. 2020b;16(12):2205–19.
- Cox RJ, Brokstad KA. Not just antibodies: B cells and T cells mediate immunity to COVID-19. Nat Rev Immunol. Nature Publishing Group; 2020;20(10):581–2.
- Detmer SA, Chan DC. Functions and dysfunctions of mitochondrial dynamics. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2007;8(11):870–9.
- Devasthanam AS. Mechanisms underlying the inhibition of interferon signaling by viruses. Virulence. 2014;5(2):270–7.

- Dhawan S, Heredia A, Wahl LM, Epstein JS, Meltzer MS, Hewlett IK. Interferongamma-induced downregulation of CD4 inhibits the entry of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 in primary monocytes. Pathobiol J Immunopathol Mol Cell Biol. 1995;63(2):93–9.
- Diao B, Wang C, Tan Y, Chen X, Liu Y, Ning L, Chen L, Li M, Liu Y, Wang G, Yuan Z, Feng Z, Zhang Y, Wu Y, Chen Y. Reduction and Functional Exhaustion of T Cells in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Front Immunol. Frontiers; 2020a;11.
- Diao B, Wang C, Tan Y, Chen X, Liu Y, Ning L, Chen L, Li M, Liu Y, Wang G, Yuan Z, Feng Z, Zhang Y, Wu Y, Chen Y. Reduction and Functional Exhaustion of T Cells in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Front Immunol. 2020b;11:827.
- Dong Y, Dai T, Wei Y, Zhang L, Zheng M, Zhou F. A systematic review of SARS-CoV-2 vaccine candidates. Signal Transduct Target Ther. Nature Publishing Group; 2020;5(1):1–14.
- Dzananovic E, McKenna SA, Patel TR. Viral proteins targeting host protein kinase R to evade an innate immune response: a mini review. Biotechnol Genet Eng Rev. 2018;34(1):33–59.
- Eastman RT, Roth JS, Brimacombe KR, Simeonov A, Shen M, Patnaik S, Hall MD. Remdesivir: A Review of Its Discovery and Development Leading to Emergency Use Authorization for Treatment of COVID-19. ACS Cent Sci. 2020;6(5):672–83.
- Feyaerts D, Hedou J, Gillard J, Chen H, Tsai ES, Peterson LS, Ando K, Manohar M, Do E, Dhondalay GKR, Fitzpatrick J, Artandi M, Chang I, Snow TT, Chinthrajah RS, Warren CM, Wittman R, Meyerowitz JG, Ganio EA, Stelzer IA, Han X, Verdonk F, Gaudilliere DK, Mukherjee N, Tsai AS, Rumer KK, Jiang SJ, Valdes-Ferrer SI, Kelly JD, Furman D, Aghaeepour N, Angst MS, Boyd SD, Pinsky BA, Nolan GP,

Nadeau KC, Gaudilliere B, McIlwain DR. Integrated plasma proteomic and single-cell immune signaling network signatures demarcate mild, moderate, and severe COVID-19. BioRxiv Prepr Serv Biol. 2021;

- Fruman DA, Walsh CM. Signal transduction and autoimmunity: introduction. Autoimmunity. 2007;40(6):403–4.
- Fujita M, Zhu K, Fujita CK, Zhao M, Lam KS, Kurth MJ, Takada YK, Takada Y. Proinflammatory secreted phospholipase A2 type IIA (sPLA-IIA) induces integrin activation through direct binding to a newly identified binding site (site 2) in integrins αvβ3, α4β1, and α5β1. J Biol Chem. 2015;290(1):259–71.
- Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Abrams JM, Alnemri ES, Baehrecke EH, Blagosklonny MV, Dawson TM, Dawson VL, El-Deiry WS, Fulda S, Gottlieb E, Green DR, Hengartner MO, Kepp O, Knight RA, Kumar S, Lipton SA, Lu X, Madeo F, Malorni W, Mehlen P, Nuñez G, Peter ME, Piacentini M, Rubinsztein DC, Shi Y, Simon H-U, Vandenabeele P, White E, Yuan J, Zhivotovsky B, Melino G, Kroemer G. Molecular definitions of cell death subroutines: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2012. Cell Death Differ. Nature Publishing Group; 2012;19(1):107–20.
- Garcia-Beltran WF, Lam EC, Astudillo MG, Yang D, Miller TE, Feldman J, Hauser BM, Caradonna TM, Clayton KL, Nitido AD. COVID-19-neutralizing antibodies predict disease severity and survival. Cell. Elsevier; 2021;184(2):476–88.
- Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Moreno BH, Saco J, Escuin-Ordinas H, Rodriguez GA,
 Zaretsky JM, Sun L, Hugo W, Wang X, Parisi G, Saus CP, Torrejon DY, Graeber
 TG, Comin-Anduix B, Hu-Lieskovan S, Damoiseaux R, Lo RS, Ribas A.
 Interferon Receptor Signaling Pathways Regulating PD-L1 and PD-L2
 Expression. Cell Rep. 2017;19(6):1189–201.

- Ghaffari A, Meurant R, Ardakani A. COVID-19 Serological Tests: How Well Do They Actually Perform? Diagnostics. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute; 2020;10(7):453.
- Glatigny S, Duhen R, Oukka M, Bettelli E. Loss of alpha4 integrin expression differentially affects the homing of Th1 and Th17 cells. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 2011;187(12):6176–9.
- Gordon DE, Jang GM, Bouhaddou M, Xu J, Obernier K, White KM, O'Meara MJ, Rezelj VV, Guo JZ, Swaney DL, Tummino TA, Hüttenhain R, Kaake RM, Richards AL, Tutuncuoglu B, Foussard H, Batra J, Haas K, Modak M, Kim M, Haas P, Polacco BJ, Braberg H, Fabius JM, Eckhardt M, Soucheray M, Bennett MJ, Cakir M, McGregor MJ, Li Q, Meyer B, Roesch F, Vallet T, Mac Kain A, Miorin L, Moreno E, Naing ZZC, Zhou Y, Peng S, Shi Y, Zhang Z, Shen W, Kirby IT, Melnyk JE, Chorba JS, Lou K, Dai SA, Barrio-Hernandez I, Memon D, Hernandez-Armenta C, Lyu J, Mathy CJP, Perica T, Pilla KB, Ganesan SJ, Saltzberg DJ, Rakesh R, Liu X, Rosenthal SB, Calviello L, Venkataramanan S, Liboy-Lugo J, Lin Y, Huang X-P, Liu Y, Wankowicz SA, Bohn M, Safari M, Ugur FS, Koh C, Savar NS, Tran QD, Shengjuler D, Fletcher SJ, O'Neal MC, Cai Y, Chang JCJ, Broadhurst DJ, Klippsten S, Sharp PP, Wenzell NA, Kuzuoglu-Ozturk D, Wang H-Y, Trenker R, Young JM, Cavero DA, Hiatt J, Roth TL, Rathore U, Subramanian A, Noack J, Hubert M, Stroud RM, Frankel AD, Rosenberg OS, Verba KA, Agard DA, Ott M, et al. A SARS-CoV-2 protein interaction map reveals targets for drug repurposing. Nature. 2020;583(7816):459– 68.
- Grifoni A, Weiskopf D, Ramirez SI, Mateus J, Dan JM, Moderbacher CR, Rawlings SA, Sutherland A, Premkumar L, Jadi RS, Marrama D, de Silva AM, Frazier A, Carlin AF, Greenbaum JA, Peters B, Krammer F, Smith DM, Crotty S, Sette A. Targets

of T Cell Responses to SARS-CoV-2 Coronavirus in Humans with COVID-19 Disease and Unexposed Individuals. Cell. 2020;181(7):1489-1501.e15.

- Haghverdi L, Lun ATL, Morgan MD, Marioni JC. Batch effects in single-cell RNA sequencing data are corrected by matching mutual nearest neighbours. Nat Biotechnol. 2018;36(5):421–7.
- Hassan NJ, Barclay AN, Brown MH. Frontline: Optimal T cell activation requires the engagement of CD6 and CD166. Eur J Immunol. 2004;34(4):930–40.
- He X-S, Draghi M, Mahmood K, Holmes TH, Kemble GW, Dekker CL, Arvin AM, Parham P, Greenberg HB. T cell-dependent production of IFN-gamma by NK cells in response to influenza A virus. J Clin Invest. 2004;114(12):1812–9.
- Hermanowicz J, Sieklucka B, Nosek K, Pawlak D. Intracellular mechanisms of tumor cells' immunoresistance. Acta Biochim Pol. 2020;67(2):143–8.
- Hoffmann H-H, Schneider WM, Rice CM. Interferons and viruses: an evolutionary arms race of molecular interactions. Trends Immunol. 2015;36(3):124–38.
- Honda K, Taniguchi T. IRFs: master regulators of signalling by Toll-like receptors and cytosolic pattern-recognition receptors. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6(9):644–58.
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, Zhang L, Fan G, Xu J, Gu X, Cheng Z, Yu T, Xia J, Wei Y, Wu W, Xie X, Yin W, Li H, Liu M, Xiao Y, Gao H, Guo L, Xie J, Wang G, Jiang R, Gao Z, Jin Q, Wang J, Cao B. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet Lond Engl. 2020a;395(10223):497–506.
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, Zhang L, Fan G, Xu J, Gu X, Cheng Z,Yu T, Xia J, Wei Y, Wu W, Xie X, Yin W, Li H, Liu M, Xiao Y, Gao H, Guo L,Xie J, Wang G, Jiang R, Gao Z, Jin Q, Wang J, Cao B. Clinical features of patients

infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet Lond Engl. 2020b;395(10223):497–506.

- Huang L, Shi Y, Gong B, Jiang L, Zhang Z, Liu X, Yang J, He Y, Jiang Z, Zhong L,
 Tang J, You C, Jiang Q, Long B, Zeng T, Luo M, Zeng F, Zeng F, Wang S, Yang
 X, Yang Z. Dynamic blood single-cell immune responses in patients with COVID19. Signal Transduct Target Ther. Nature Publishing Group; 2021;6(1):1–12.
- Huang Y, Dai H, Ke R. Principles of Effective and Robust Innate Immune Response to Viral Infections: A Multiplex Network Analysis. Front Immunol. 2019;10:1736.
- Hurgin V, Novick D, Werman A, Dinarello CA, Rubinstein M. Antiviral and immunoregulatory activities of IFN-gamma depend on constitutively expressed IL-1alpha. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(12):5044–9.
- Hwang S, Maloney NS, Bruinsma MW, Goel G, Duan E, Zhang L, Shrestha B, Diamond MS, Dani A, Sosnovtsev SV, Green KY, Lopez-Otin C, Xavier RJ, Thackray LB, Virgin HW. Nondegradative role of Atg5-Atg12/ Atg16L1 autophagy protein complex in antiviral activity of interferon gamma. Cell Host Microbe. 2012;11(4):397–409.
- Ivashkiv LB, Donlin LT. Regulation of type I interferon responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(1):36–49.
- Iwasaki A, Medzhitov R. Control of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system. Nat Immunol. 2015;16(4):343–53.
- Jager LD, Dabelic R, Waiboci LW, Lau K, Haider MS, Ahmed CMI, Larkin J, David S, Johnson HM. The kinase inhibitory region of SOCS-1 is sufficient to inhibit Thelper 17 and other immune functions in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol. 2011;232(1–2):108–18.

- Jang JC, Chen G, Wang SH, Barnes MA, Chung JI, Camberis M, Le Gros G, Cooper PJ, Steel C, Nutman TB, Lazar MA, Nair MG. Macrophage-derived human Resistin is induced in multiple helminth infections and promotes inflammatory monocytes and increased parasite burden. PLoS Pathog. 2015;11(1):e1004579.
- Jang JC, Li J, Gambini L, Batugedara HM, Sati S, Lazar MA, Fan L, Pellecchia M, Nair MG. Human Resistin protects against endotoxic shock by blocking LPS-TLR4 interaction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114(48):E10399–408.
- Jans J, Unger WWJ, Vissers M, Ahout IML, Schreurs I, Wickenhagen A, de Groot R, de Jonge MI, Ferwerda G. Siglec-1 inhibits RSV-induced interferon gamma production by adult T cells in contrast to newborn T cells. Eur J Immunol. 2018;48(4):621–31.
- Jassal B, Matthews L, Viteri G, Gong C, Lorente P, Fabregat A, Sidiropoulos K, Cook J, Gillespie M, Haw R, Loney F, May B, Milacic M, Rothfels K, Sevilla C, Shamovsky V, Shorser S, Varusai T, Weiser J, Wu G, Stein L, Hermjakob H, D'Eustachio P. The reactome pathway knowledgebase. Nucleic Acids Res. 2020;48(D1):D498–503.
- Jiang S, Park DW, Tadie J-M, Gregoire M, Deshane J, Pittet JF, Abraham E, Zmijewski JW. Human Resistin promotes neutrophil proinflammatory activation and neutrophil extracellular trap formation and increases severity of acute lung injury. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 2014;192(10):4795–803.
- Jin S, Guerrero-Juarez CF, Zhang L, Chang I, Ramos R, Kuan C-H, Myung P, Plikus MV, Nie Q. Inference and analysis of cell-cell communication using CellChat. Nat Commun. Nature Publishing Group; 2021;12(1):1088.
- Kang Y-W, Park S, Lee K-J, Moon D, Kim Y-M, Lee S-W. Understanding the Host Innate Immune Responses against SARS-CoV-2 Infection and COVID-19 Pathogenesis. Immune Netw. 2021;21(1).

- Kim HS, Kim DC, Kim H-M, Kwon H-J, Kwon SJ, Kang S-J, Kim SC, Choi G-E. STAT1 deficiency redirects IFN signalling toward suppression of TLR response through a feedback activation of STAT3. Sci Rep. 2015;5:13414.
- Kirchberger S, Majdic O, Steinberger P, Blüml S, Pfistershammer K, Zlabinger G, Deszcz L, Kuechler E, Knapp W, Stöckl J. Human Rhinoviruses Inhibit the Accessory Function of Dendritic Cells by Inducing Sialoadhesin and B7-H1 Expression. J Immunol. American Association of Immunologists; 2005;175(2):1145–52.
- Kos FJ, Engleman EG. Requirement for natural killer cells in the induction of cytotoxic T cells. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 1995;155(2):578–84.
- Kumar MP, Du J, Lagoudas G, Jiao Y, Sawyer A, Drummond DC, Lauffenburger DA, Raue A. Analysis of Single-Cell RNA-Seq Identifies Cell-Cell Communication Associated with Tumor Characteristics. Cell Rep. 2018;25(6):1458-1468.e4.
- Laforge M, Elbim C, Frère C, Hémadi M, Massaad C, Nuss P, Benoliel J-J, Becker C. Tissue damage from neutrophil-induced oxidative stress in COVID-19. Nat Rev Immunol. Nature Publishing Group; 2020;20(9):515–6.
- Lasfar A, Cook JR, Cohen Solal KA, Reuhl K, Kotenko SV, Langer JA, Laskin DL. Critical role of the endogenous interferon ligand-receptors in type I and type II interferons response. Immunology. 2014;142(3):442–52.
- Lazear HM, Schoggins JW, Diamond MS. Shared and Distinct Functions of Type I and Type III Interferons. Immunity. 2019;50(4):907–23.
- Lee CK, Rao DT, Gertner R, Gimeno R, Frey AB, Levy DE. Distinct requirements for IFNs and STAT1 in NK cell function. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 2000;165(7):3571–7.

- Lee S, Lee H-C, Kwon Y-W, Lee SE, Cho Y, Kim J, Lee S, Kim J-Y, Lee J, Yang H-M, Mook-Jung I, Nam K-Y, Chung J, Lazar MA, Kim H-S. Adenylyl cyclaseassociated protein 1 is a receptor for human Resistin and mediates inflammatory actions of human monocytes. Cell Metab. 2014;19(3):484–97.
- Liau NPD, Laktyushin A, Lucet IS, Murphy JM, Yao S, Whitlock E, Callaghan K, Nicola NA, Kershaw NJ, Babon JJ. The molecular basis of JAK/STAT inhibition by SOCS1. Nat Commun. Nature Publishing Group; 2018;9(1):1558.
- Lu R, Zhao X, Li J, Niu P, Yang B, Wu H, Wang W, Song H, Huang B, Zhu N, Bi Y, Ma X, Zhan F, Wang L, Hu T, Zhou H, Hu Z, Zhou W, Zhao L, Chen J, Meng Y, Wang J, Lin Y, Yuan J, Xie Z, Ma J, Liu WJ, Wang D, Xu W, Holmes EC, Gao GF, Wu G, Chen W, Shi W, Tan W. Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: implications for virus origins and receptor binding. Lancet Lond Engl. 2020;395(10224):565–74.

Lundstrom K. Viral Vectors for COVID-19 Vaccine Development. Viruses. 2021;13(2).

- Marini JJ, Gattinoni L. Management of COVID-19 Respiratory Distress. JAMA. 2020;323(22):2329–30.
- Marshall JS, Warrington R, Watson W, Kim HL. An introduction to immunology and immunopathology. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol. 2018;14(2):49.
- Melenotte C, Silvin A, Goubet A-G, Lahmar I, Dubuisson A, Zumla A, Raoult D, Merad M, Gachot B, Hénon C, Solary E, Fontenay M, André F, Maeurer M, Ippolito G, Piacentini M, Wang F-S, Ginhoux F, Marabelle A, Kroemer G, Derosa L, Zitvogel L. Immune responses during COVID-19 infection. Oncoimmunology. 9(1).
- Menni C, Klaser K, May A, Polidori L, Capdevila J, Louca P, Sudre CH, Nguyen LH,Drew DA, Merino J, Hu C, Selvachandran S, Antonelli M, Murray B, Canas LS,Molteni E, Graham MS, Modat M, Joshi AD, Mangino M, Hammers A, Goodman

AL, Chan AT, Wolf J, Steves CJ, Valdes AM, Ourselin S, Spector TD. Vaccine side-effects and SARS-CoV-2 infection after vaccination in users of the COVID Symptom Study app in the UK: a prospective observational study. Lancet Infect Dis. Elsevier; 2021;0(0).

- Meyer K, Kwon Y-C, Liu S, Hagedorn CH, Ray RB, Ray R. Interferon-α inducible protein 6 impairs EGFR activation by CD81 and inhibits hepatitis C virus infection. Sci Rep. 2015;5:9012.
- Montoro DT, Haber AL, Biton M, Vinarsky V, Lin B, Birket SE, Yuan F, Chen S, Leung HM, Villoria J, Rogel N, Burgin G, Tsankov AM, Waghray A, Slyper M, Waldman J, Nguyen L, Dionne D, Rozenblatt-Rosen O, Tata PR, Mou H, Shivaraju M, Bihler H, Mense M, Tearney GJ, Rowe SM, Engelhardt JF, Regev A, Rajagopal J. A revised airway epithelial hierarchy includes CFTR-expressing ionocytes. Nature. 2018;560(7718):319–24.
- Nair S, Poddar S, Shimak RM, Diamond MS. Interferon Regulatory Factor 1 Protects against Chikungunya Virus-Induced Immunopathology by Restricting Infection in Muscle Cells. J Virol. American Society for Microbiology Journals; 2017;91(22).
- Oktay MH, Lee Y-F, Harney A, Farrell D, Kuhn NZ, Morris SA, Greenspan E, Mohla S, Grodzinski P, Norton L. Cell-to-cell communication in cancer: workshop report. Npj Breast Cancer. Nature Publishing Group; 2015;1(1):1–4.
- Olsen TK, Baryawno N. Introduction to Single-Cell RNA Sequencing. Curr Protoc Mol Biol. 2018;122(1):e57.
- Ou X, Liu Y, Lei X, Li P, Mi D, Ren L, Guo L, Guo R, Chen T, Hu J, Xiang Z, Mu Z, Chen X, Chen J, Hu K, Jin Q, Wang J, Qian Z. Characterization of spike glycoprotein of SARS-CoV-2 on virus entry and its immune cross-reactivity with SARS-CoV. Nat Commun. 2020;11(1):1620.
- Oviedo-orta E, Hoy T, Evans WH. Intercellular communication in the immune system: differential expression of connexin40 and 43, and perturbation of gap junction channel functions in peripheral blood and tonsil human lymphocyte subpopulations. Immunology. 2000;99(4):578–90.
- Oxenius A, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. Comparison of activation versus induction of unresponsiveness of virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells upon acute versus persistent viral infection. Immunity. 1998;9(4):449–57.
- Pal M, Berhanu G, Desalegn C, Kandi V. Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2): An Update. Cureus. 12(3).
- Park G-H, Kim K-Y, Cho SW, Cheong JY, Yu GI, Shin DH, Kwack KB. Association between Interferon-Inducible Protein 6 (IFI6) Polymorphisms and Hepatitis B Virus Clearance. Genomics Inform. 2013;11(1):15–23.
- Pellegrini M, Calzascia T, Toe JG, Preston SP, Lin AE, Elford AR, Shahinian A, Lang PA, Lang KS, Morre M, Assouline B, Lahl K, Sparwasser T, Tedder TF, Paik J-H, DePinho RA, Basta S, Ohashi PS, Mak TW. IL-7 engages multiple mechanisms to overcome chronic viral infection and limit organ pathology. Cell. 2011;144(4):601–13.
- Pestka S, Krause CD, Walter MR. Interferons, interferon-like cytokines, and their receptors. Immunol Rev. 2004;202:8–32.
- Pierce AT, DeSalvo J, Foster TP, Kosinski A, Weller SK, Halford WP. Beta interferon and gamma interferon synergize to block viral DNA and virion synthesis in herpes simplex virus-infected cells. J Gen Virol. 2005;86(Pt 9):2421–32.
- Pine GM, Batugedara HM, Nair MG. Here, There and Everywhere: Resistin-like Molecules in Infection, Inflammation, and Metabolic Disorders. Cytokine. 2018;110:442–51.

- Plass M, Solana J, Wolf FA, Ayoub S, Misios A, Glažar P, Obermayer B, Theis FJ, Kocks C, Rajewsky N. Cell type atlas and lineage tree of a whole complex animal by single-cell transcriptomics. Science. 2018;360(6391).
- Pollet J, Chen W-H, Strych U. Recombinant protein vaccines, a proven approach against coronavirus pandemics. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2021;170:71–82.
- Ramírez-Pliego O, Escobar-Zárate DL, Rivera-Martínez GM, Cervantes-Badillo MG, Esquivel-Guadarrama FR, Rosas-Salgado G, Rosenstein Y, Santana MA. CD43 signals induce Type One lineage commitment of human CD4+ T cells. BMC Immunol. 2007;8:30.
- Rao VUS, Arakeri G, Subash A, Rao J, Jadhav S, Suhail Sayeed M, Rao G, Brennan PA. COVID-19: Loss of bridging between innate and adaptive immunity? Med Hypotheses. 2020;144:109861.
- Raredon MSB, Adams TS, Suhail Y, Schupp JC, Poli S, Neumark N, Leiby KL, Greaney AM, Yuan Y, Horien C, Linderman G, Engler AJ, Boffa DJ, Kluger Y, Rosas IO, Levchenko A, Kaminski N, Niklason LE. Single-cell connectomic analysis of adult mammalian lungs. Sci Adv. 2019;5(12):eaaw3851.
- Ren X, Wen W, Fan X, Hou W, Su B, Cai P, Li J, Liu Y, Tang F, Zhang F, Yang Y, He J, Ma W, He J, Wang P, Cao Q, Chen F, Chen Y, Cheng X, Deng G, Deng X, Ding W, Feng Y, Gan R, Guo C, Guo W, He S, Jiang C, Liang J, Li Y-M, Lin J, Ling Y, Liu H, Liu J, Liu N, Liu S-Q, Luo M, Ma Q, Song Q, Sun W, Wang G, Wang F, Wang Y, Wen X, Wu Q, Xu G, Xie X, Xiong X, Xing X, Xu H, Yin C, Yu D, Yu K, Yuan J, Zhang B, Zhang P, Zhang T, Zhao J, Zhao P, Zhou J, Zhou W, Zhong S, Zhong X, Zhang S, Zhu L, Zhu P, Zou B, Zou J, Zuo Z, Bai F, Huang X, Zhou P, Jiang Q, Huang Z, Bei J-X, Wei L, Bian X-W, Liu X, Cheng T, Li X, Zhao P, Wang F-S, Wang H, Su B, Zhang Z, Qu K, Wang X, Chen J, Jin R,

Zhang Z. COVID-19 immune features revealed by a large-scale single-cell transcriptome atlas. Cell. 2021;

- Ren X, Zhong G, Zhang Q, Zhang L, Sun Y, Zhang Z. Reconstruction of cell spatial organization from single-cell RNA sequencing data based on ligand-receptor mediated self-assembly. Cell Res. 2020;30(9):763–78.
- Rhein BA, Powers LS, Rogers K, Anantpadma M, Singh BK, Sakurai Y, Bair T, Miller-Hunt C, Sinn P, Davey RA, Monick MM, Maury W. Interferon-γ Inhibits Ebola Virus Infection. PLOS Pathog. Public Library of Science; 2015;11(11):e1005263.
- Rostom R, Svensson V, Teichmann SA, Kar G. Computational approaches for interpreting scRNA-seq data. FEBS Lett. 2017;591(15):2213–25.
- Rouse BT, Sehrawat S. Immunity and immunopathology to viruses: what decides the outcome? Nat Rev Immunol. Nature Publishing Group; 2010;10(7):514–26.
- Rowland RR, Robinson B, Stefanick J, Kim TS, Guanghua L, Lawson SR, Benfield DA. Inhibition of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus by interferongamma and recovery of virus replication with 2-aminopurine. Arch Virol. 2001;146(3):539–55.
- Ruan Q, Yang K, Wang W, Jiang L, Song J. Clinical predictors of mortality due to COVID-19 based on an analysis of data of 150 patients from Wuhan, China. Intensive Care Med. 2020;46(5):846–8.
- Sanli DET, Altundag A, Kandemirli SG, Yildirim D, Sanli AN, Saatci O, Kirisoglu CE, Dikensoy O, Murrja E, Yesil A, Bastan S, Karsidag T, Akinci IO, Ozkok S, Yilmaz E, Tuzuner F, Kilercik M, Ljama T. Relationship between disease severity and serum IL-6 levels in COVID-19 anosmia. Am J Otolaryngol. 2021;42(1):102796.

- Sayan İ, Altınay M, Çınar AS, Türk HŞ, Peker N, Şahin K, Coşkun N, Demir GD. Impact of HFNC application on mortality and intensive care length of stay in acute respiratory failure secondary to COVID-19 pneumonia. Heart Lung J Crit Care. 2021;50(3):425–9.
- Schoggins JW, Wilson SJ, Panis M, Murphy MY, Jones CT, Bieniasz P, Rice CM. A diverse range of gene products are effectors of the type I interferon antiviral response. Nature. 2011;472(7344):481–5.
- Schroder K, Hertzog PJ, Ravasi T, Hume DA. Interferon-gamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. J Leukoc Biol. 2004;75(2):163–89.
- Seo Y-J, Hahm B. Type I interferon modulates the battle of host immune system against viruses. Adv Appl Microbiol. 2010;73:83–101.
- Shaffer SM, Dunagin MC, Torborg SR, Torre EA, Emert B, Krepler C, Beqiri M, Sproesser K, Brafford PA, Xiao M, Eggan E, Anastopoulos IN, Vargas-Garcia CA, Singh A, Nathanson KL, Herlyn M, Raj A. Rare cell variability and druginduced reprogramming as a mode of cancer drug resistance. Nature. 2017;546(7658):431–5.
- Singh JA, Upshur REG. The granting of emergency use designation to COVID-19 candidate vaccines: implications for COVID-19 vaccine trials. Lancet Infect Dis. Elsevier; 2021;21(4):e103–9.
- Skinner J, Yankey B, Shelton BK. Hemophagocytic Lymphohistiocytosis. AACN Adv Crit Care. 2019;30(2):151–64.
- Smith SE, Busse DC, Binter S, Weston S, Diaz Soria C, Laksono BM, Clare S, Van Nieuwkoop S, Van den Hoogen BG, Clement M, Marsden M, Humphreys IR, Marsh M, de Swart RL, Wash RS, Tregoning JS, Kellam P. Interferon-Induced

Transmembrane Protein 1 Restricts Replication of Viruses That Enter Cells via the Plasma Membrane. J Virol. 2019;93(6).

- Sol VV, Punzón C, Fresno M. IFN-γ-Induced TNF-α Expression Is Regulated by Interferon Regulatory Factors 1 and 8 in Mouse Macrophages. J Immunol. American Association of Immunologists; 2008;181(7):4461–70.
- Song J-W, Zhang C, Fan X, Meng F-P, Xu Z, Xia P, Cao W-J, Yang T, Dai X-P, Wang S-Y, Xu R-N, Jiang T-J, Li W-G, Zhang D-W, Zhao P, Shi M, Agrati C, Ippolito G, Maeurer M, Zumla A, Wang F-S, Zhang J-Y. Immunological and inflammatory profiles in mild and severe cases of COVID-19. Nat Commun. 2020;11(1):3410.
- Sosa-Hernández VA, Torres-Ruíz J, Cervantes-Díaz R, Romero-Ramírez S, Páez-Franco JC, Meza-Sánchez DE, Juárez-Vega G, Pérez-Fragoso A, Ortiz-Navarrete V, Ponce-de-León A, Llorente L, Berrón-Ruiz L, Mejía-Domínguez NR, Gómez-Martín D, Maravillas-Montero JL. B Cell Subsets as Severity-Associated Signatures in COVID-19 Patients. Front Immunol. 2020;11:611004.
- Sridharan A, Esposo M, Kaushal K, Tay J, Osann K, Agrawal S, Gupta S, Agrawal A. Age-associated impaired plasmacytoid dendritic cell functions lead to decreased CD4 and CD8 T cell immunity. Age. 2011;33(3):363–76.
- Stoeckius M, Hafemeister C, Stephenson W, Houck-Loomis B, Chattopadhyay PK, Swerdlow H, Satija R, Smibert P. Simultaneous epitope and transcriptome measurement in single cells. Nat Methods. Nature Publishing Group; 2017;14(9):865–8.
- Stuart T, Satija R. Integrative single-cell analysis. Nat Rev Genet. 2019;20(5):257–72.
- Su Y, Chen D, Yuan D, Lausted C, Choi J, Dai CL, Voillet V, Duvvuri VR, Scherler K, Troisch P, Baloni P, Qin G, Smith B, Kornilov SA, Rostomily C, Xu A, Li J, Dong S, Rothchild A, Zhou J, Murray K, Edmark R, Hong S, Heath JE, Earls J,

Zhang R, Xie J, Li S, Roper R, Jones L, Zhou Y, Rowen L, Liu R, Mackay S, O'Mahony DS, Dale CR, Wallick JA, Algren HA, Zager MA, ISB-Swedish COVID19 Biobanking Unit, Wei W, Price ND, Huang S, Subramanian N, Wang K, Magis AT, Hadlock JJ, Hood L, Aderem A, Bluestone JA, Lanier LL, Greenberg PD, Gottardo R, Davis MM, Goldman JD, Heath JR. Multi-Omics Resolves a Sharp Disease-State Shift between Mild and Moderate COVID-19. Cell. 2020;183(6):1479-1495.e20.

- Szklarczyk D, Gable AL, Lyon D, Junge A, Wyder S, Huerta-Cepas J, Simonovic M, Doncheva NT, Morris JH, Bork P, Jensen LJ, Mering C von. STRING v11: protein-protein association networks with increased coverage, supporting functional discovery in genome-wide experimental datasets. Nucleic Acids Res. 2019;47(D1):D607–13.
- Takeuchi O, Akira S. Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. Cell. 2010;140(6):805–20.
- Tang F, Barbacioru C, Wang Y, Nordman E, Lee C, Xu N, Wang X, Bodeau J, Tuch BB, Siddiqui A, Lao K, Surani MA. mRNA-Seq whole-transcriptome analysis of a single cell. Nat Methods. 2009;6(5):377–82.
- Tang J, Ravichandran S, Lee Y, Grubbs G, Coyle EM, Klenow L, Genser H, Golding H, Khurana S. Antibody affinity maturation and plasma IgA associate with clinical outcome in hospitalized COVID-19 patients. Nat Commun. Nature Publishing Group; 2021;12(1):1221.
- Teijaro JR, Farber DL. COVID-19 vaccines: modes of immune activation and future challenges. Nat Rev Immunol. Nature Publishing Group; 2021;21(4):195–7.
- Tiwari NR, Khatib KI, Dixit SB, Rathore PK, Melinkeri S, Ganapule A, Borawake KS, Mhatre U. Anticoagulation in COVID – 19: An Update. J Crit Care Med. 2020;6(4):217–23.

- Varchetta S, Mele D, Oliviero B, Mantovani S, Ludovisi S, Cerino A, Bruno R, Castelli A, Mosconi M, Vecchia M, Roda S, Sachs M, Klersy C, Mondelli MU. Unique immunological profile in patients with COVID-19. Cell Mol Immunol. Nature Publishing Group; 2021;18(3):604–12.
- Varela-Rohena A, Molloy PE, Dunn SM, Li Y, Suhoski MM, Carroll RG, Milicic A, Mahon T, Sutton DH, Laugel B, Moysey R, Cameron BJ, Vuidepot A, Purbhoo MA, Cole DK, Phillips RE, June CH, Jakobsen BK, Sewell AK, Riley JL. Control of HIV-1 immune escape by CD8 T cells expressing enhanced T-cell receptor. Nat Med. 2008;14(12):1390–5.
- Vazquez MI, Catalan-Dibene J, Zlotnik A. B cells responses and cytokine production are regulated by their immune microenvironment. Cytokine. 2015;74(2):318–26.
- Vieth B, Ziegenhain C, Parekh S, Enard W, Hellmann I. powsimR: power analysis for bulk and single cell RNA-seq experiments. Bioinforma Oxf Engl. 2017;33(21):3486–8.
- Wang S, Karikomi M, MacLean AL, Nie Q. Cell lineage and communication network inference via optimization for single-cell transcriptomics. Nucleic Acids Res. 2019;47(11):e66.
- Wei X, Jia Z-S, Lian J-Q, Zhang Y, Li J, Ma L, Ye L, Wang J-P, Pan L, Wang P-Z, Bai X-F. Inhibition of hepatitis C virus infection by interferon-gamma through downregulating claudin-1. J Interferon Cytokine Res Off J Int Soc Interferon Cytokine Res. 2009;29(3):171–8.
- Wu F, Zhao S, Yu B, Chen Y-M, Wang W, Song Z-G, Hu Y, Tao Z-W, Tian J-H, Pei Y-Y, Yuan M-L, Zhang Y-L, Dai F-H, Liu Y, Wang Q-M, Zheng J-J, Xu L, Holmes EC, Zhang Y-Z. Author Correction: A new coronavirus associated with human respiratory disease in China. Nature. 2020;580(7803):E7.

- Xu B, Fan C-Y, Wang A-L, Zou Y-L, Yu Y-H, He C, Xia W-G, Zhang J-X, Miao Q. Suppressed T cell-mediated immunity in patients with COVID-19: A clinical retrospective study in Wuhan, China. J Infect. 2020;81(1):e51–60.
- Yokota S, Yokosawa N, Okabayashi T, Suzutani T, Fujii N. Induction of suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 by herpes simplex virus type 1 confers efficient viral replication. Virology. 2005;338(1):173–81.
- Zhang B, Zhou X, Qiu Y, Song Y, Feng F, Feng J, Song Q, Jia Q, Wang J. Clinical characteristics of 82 cases of death from COVID-19. PloS One. 2020a;15(7):e0235458.
- Zhang K. Overview of Interferon: Characteristics, signaling and anti-cancer effect. Arch Biotechnol Biomed. 2017;1(1):001–16.
- Zhang X, Lu S, Li H, Wang Y, Lu Z, Liu Z, Lai Q, Ji Y, Huang X, Li Y, Sun J, Wu Y, Xu X, Hou J. Viral and Antibody Kinetics of COVID-19 Patients with Different Disease Severities in Acute and Convalescent Phases: A 6-Month Follow-Up Study. Virol Sin. 2020b;35(6):820–9.
- Zhang X, Tan Y, Ling Y, Lu G, Liu F, Yi Z, Jia X, Wu M, Shi B, Xu S, Chen J, Wang W, Chen B, Jiang L, Yu S, Lu J, Wang J, Xu M, Yuan Z, Zhang Q, Zhang X, Zhao G, Wang S, Chen S, Lu H. Viral and host factors related to the clinical outcome of COVID-19. Nature. 2020c;583(7816):437–40.
- Zhang Y, Liu T, Wang J, Zou B, Li L, Yao L, Chen K, Ning L, Wu B, Zhao X, Wang D. Cellinker: a platform of ligand–receptor interactions for intercellular communication analysis. Robinson P, editor. Bioinformatics. 2021;btab036.
- Zheng Q, Hou J, Zhou Y, Yang Y, Xie B, Cao X. Siglec1 suppresses antiviral innate immune response by inducing TBK1 degradation via the ubiquitin ligase TRIM27. Cell Res. 2015;25(10):1121–36.